E/CN.4/



UNITED NATIONS

COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS REPORT of the TWELFTH SESSION

5-29 MARCH 1956

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL OFFICIAL RECORDS: TWENTY-SECOND SESSION

SUPPLEMENT No. 3

NEW YORK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	• ·	Paragraphs	Page
I.	Organization of the session	1-18	1
	A. Opening and duration of the session	1-3	1
	B. Representation and attendance	4-13	1
	C. Election of officers	14	2
	D. Meetings, resolutions and documentation	15-18	2
II.	Agenda	19-20	3
111.	Development of the work of the United Nations for wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world	21-118	3
	A. Annual reports on human rights Resolution I	21-46 23	3 4
	B. Studies of specific rights or groups of rights Resolution II	47-83 49	8 8
	C. Advisory services in the field of human rights	84-96 87	13 14
	D. Other questions	97-118	16
	Draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child Resolution IV	98-100 99	16 16
	Preparation of a draft Convention on Discrimination in Education	101-107	16
	Right of asylum Resolution V	108-112 109	17 17
	Celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human		
	Rights	113-118 113	18 18
IV.	Prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities	119-157	19
	A. Membership of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities	119-128 122	19 19

(Continued on page 3 of cover)

E/2844 E/CN.4/731
April 1956

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.



UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL OFFICIAL RECORDS TWENTY-SECOND SESSION

COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

Report of the twelfth session (5-29 March 1956)

I. ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION

A. Opening and duration of the session

1. The Commission on Human Rights held its twelfth session at the Headquarters of the United Nations, New York. The session commenced on 5 March 1956 and ended on 29 March 1956.

2. Mr. René Cassin (France), Chairman of the Commission at its eleventh session, opened the session.

3. Statements concerning the past achievements of the Commission and its future work were made at the opening meeting by the Chairman (E/CN.4/L.415) and by the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/L.416).

B. Representation and attendance

4. The following representatives of Member States on the Commission attended :

Mr. Trevor Ashmore Pyman (Australia), member¹

Mr. Rudecindo Ortega (Chile), member

- Mr. Cheng Paonan (China), member
- Mr. René Cassin (France), member
- Mr. C. Eustathiades (Greece), member 12

Mr. Rajeshwar Dayal (India), member

- Mr. Abdul Rahman Al-Bazzaz (Iraq), member¹
- Mr. Edward Rizk (Lebanon), member
- Mr. Luciano Joublanc Rivas (Mexico), alternate
- Mr. Erik Colban (Norway), alternate
- Mr. Abdul Waheed (Pakistan), member
- Mr. F. M. Serrano (Philippines), member
- Mr. H. Birecki (Poland), member
- Mr. V. Asiroglu (Turkey), member
- Mr. V. I. Sapoznikov (Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic), member
- Mr. P. D. Morosov (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), member ³

Mr. S. Hoare (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland), member

Mrs. Oswald B. Lord (United States of America), member.

5. At the 514th meeting, the representative of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, speaking on a point of order, made a statement on the representation of China in the Commission. It was agreed that this statement, together with those made by the representatives of China, India, Poland and the United States of America on this matter would be reported in the summary record of the meeting (E/CN.4/SR.514).

6. The following were designated as alternates for the whole session : Mr. Luciano Joublanc Rivas (Mexico) in place of Mr. Pablo Campos Ortiz and Mr. Erik Colban (Norway) in place of Mrs. Aese Lionaes. In accordance with rule 13, paragraph 2, of the rules of procedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, Mr. Pierre Juvigny represented France during the session.

7. The following were designated as alternates for various parts of the session : Mr. Dennis N. Carayannis (Greece), Mr. P. N. Kaul (India), Mr. Ali J. Saib (Iraq), Mr. V. D. Carpio (Philippines), Mr. Antoni Czarkowski (Poland), Mr. A. A. Fomin (USSR), Mr. Mervyn Brown (United Kingdom), Mr. Philip Halpern and Mr. James F. Green (United States of America).

8. The members of the Commission were accompanied by the following advisers : Mr. Luis Urzua (Chile), Mr. Hu Chun (China), Mr. B. Epinat (France), Mr. M. N. Sivaraman (India), Mr. S. A. Karim (Pakistan), Mr. Ismael Quiambao and Mr. Expedito Leviste (Philippines), Mr. Julian Forys (Poland), Mr. B. P. Pisarev (USSR), Mr. Philip Halpern, Mr. James F. Green and Mr. Richard F. Pedersen (United States of America).

9. The following observers of States Members of the United Nations were present at various meetings of the session : Mr. A. A. Lavalle (Argentina), Mr. Abdel-Hamid Abdel-Ghani (Egypt).

10. The following representatives of specialized agencies were present at various meetings of the session :

International Labour Organisation: Mr. R. A. Metall, Mr. René Roux, Mr. O. Seiersen.

¹ Nomination to be confirmed by the Economic and Social Courcil.

² Mr. C. X. Palamas, Permanent Representative of Greece to the United Nations, represented Greece at the 514th and 515th meetings.

³ Nomination to be confirmed by the Economic and Social Council.

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization: Mr. René Maheu, Mr. Solomon V. Arnaldo, Mr. Gerald Carnes.

World Health Organization: Dr. R. L. Coigny.

11. The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees was represented at certain meetings of the Commission by Miss A. Cohn.

12. The following authorized representatives of nongovernmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council were present as observers :

CATEGORY A

- International Chamber of Commerce: Mrs. Roberta Lusardi
- International Confederation of Free Trade Unions: Miss Toni Sender
- International Federation of Christian Trade Unions: Mr. G. Thormann

World Federation of Trade Unions: Miss Elinor Kahn

World Federation of United Nations Associations: Mr. Hillary Barrett-Brown,

Mrs. C. B. Fox

World Veterans Federation: Mr. George Arneman, Mrs. Rogger

CATEGORY B

- Agudas Israel World Organization: Mr. Isaac Lewin
- Catholic International Union for Social Service : Mrs. Carmen Giroux, Mrs. Allys D. Vergara
- Chamber of Commerce of the United States of America: Mr. Earl F. Cruickshank
- Commission of the Churches on International Affairs: Mr. A. Dominique Micheli, Mr. O. Frederick Nolde
- Consultative Council of Jewish Organizations : Mr. Moses Moskowitz
- Co-ordinating Board of Jewish Organizations: Mr. Saul E. Joftes
- Friends World Committee for Consultation: Mr. Grant C. Fraser
- Inter-American Council of Commerce and Production: Mr. Earl F. Cruickshank
- International Association of Penal Law: Mr. Sabin Manuila
- International Conference of Catholic Charities: Mr. Louis Longarzo
- International Co-operative Women's Guild: Mrs. Margaret Bender.
- International Council of Women: Mrs. Rose P. Parsons
- International Federation of Business and Professional Women: Miss Dorothy Cadwell, Mrs. Esther W. Hymer
- International Federation of University Women: Miss Frances McGillicuddy, Miss Janet Robb
- International Federation of Women Lawyers: Miss Bessie Ray Geffner, Miss Rose Rothenberg, Miss A. Viola Smith

- International League for the Rights of Man: Mr. Richard B. Baker, Mr. Roger Baldwin, Mr. Max Beer, Miss Dora D. Roitburd
- International Movement for Fraternal Union among Races and Peoples: Miss Marjory Krynen
- International Society for the Welfare of Cripples: Mr. Donald V. Wilson
- International Union for Child Welfare: Mrs. L. Kaufmann-Frankenstein
- International Union of Socialist Youth: Miss Susan Gyarmati
- Nouvelles équipes internationales: Mr. K. Sieniewicz, Mr. Janus Sleszynski
- Pan-Pacific South-East Asia Women's Association: Mrs. Henry G. Fowler, Mrs. Paz P. Méndez
- Society of Comparative Legislation: Miss Jacqueline S. Jolly
- Women's International League for Peace and Freedom: Mrs. Gladys D. Walser
- World Alliance of YMCA: Mr. Owen E. Pence
- World Assembly of Youth: Mr. Robert Perlzweig
- World Jewish Congress: Mr. Gerhard Jacoby, Mr. Maurice L. Perlzweig
- World Union for Progressive Judaism: Mrs. Eleanor S. Polstein
- World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations: Miss Catherine Schaefer

REGISTER

World Federation for Mental Health: Mrs. Helen S. Ascher

13. Mr. Dag Hammarskjold, Secretary-General, and Mr. Philippe de Seynes, Under-Secretary for Economic and Social Affairs, attended the opening meeting of the session. Mr. John P. Humphrey, Director of the Division of Human Rights, represented the Secretary-General at other meetings of the Commission. Mr. Kamleshwar Das acted as Secretary of the Commission.

C. Election of officers

14. The Commission at its 514th meeting unanimously re-elected the officers of the eleventh session. The officers were :

Mr. René Cassin (France), Chairman

Mr. F. M. Serrano (Philippines), First Vice-Chairman Mr. Rudecindo Ortega (Chile), Second Vice-Chairman

Mr. Abdul Waheed (Pakistan), Rapporteur

D. Meetings, resolutions and documentation

15. The Commission held thirty-three plenary meetings. The views expressed at those meetings are summarized in documents E/CN.4/SR.514 to 546.

16. In accordance with rule 75 of the rules of pro-

cedure of the functional commissions of the Economic and Social Council, the Commission granted hearings at various meetings (516th, 517th, 526th, 527th, 532nd, 536th, 540th, 541st and 544th meetings) to representatives of the following non-governmental organizations:

Category A: International Confederation of Free Trade Unions (Miss Toni Sender), International Federation of Christian Trade Unions (Mr. G. Thormann), World Federation of Trade Unions (Miss Elinor Kahn).

Category B: Agudas Israel World Organization (Mr. Isaac Lewin), International League for the Rights of Man (Mr. Roger Baldwin and Mr. Max Beer), International Society for the Welfare of Cripples (Mr. Donald V. Wilson), World Jewish Congress (Mr. Gerhard Jacoby and Mr. Maurice L. Perlzweig), and the World Union of Catholic Women's Organizations (Miss Catherine Schaefer).

17. Resolutions I-XI and decisions of the Commission appear under the subject-matters to which these relate. Draft resolutions A-D submitted for consideration by the Economic and Social Council are set out in annex I to this report. A statement by the Secretariat of the financial implications of decisions taken by the Commission will be found in annex II.

18. Documents before the Commission at its twelfth session are listed in annex III.

II. AGENDA

19. The provisional agenda (E/CN.4/720) was considered by the Commission at its 514th meeting. The Commission agreed to incorporate items 3, 4 and 7 of the provisional agenda as sub-items (a), (b) and (c) under a new item 3 entitled "Development of the work of the United Nations for wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world", and to add a sub-item (d), "Other questions". It also agreed to consider inclusion of other items, such as the "Right of asylum" and the "Draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child", when reviewing its programme. The provisional agenda, as amended, was adopted unanimously.

20. The agenda for the twelfth session was as follows (E/CN.4/723):

- 1. Election of officers
- 2. Adoption of the agenda
- 3. Development of the work of the United Nations for wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world
 - (a) Annual reports on human rights (E/2731 and Corr.I,⁴ paras.141 and 161)

- (b) Studies of specific rights or groups of rights (E/2731 and Corr.1,⁴ paras. 141 and 168)
- (c) Advisory services in the field of human rights (General Assembly resolution 926 (X))
- (d) Other questions
- 4. Prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities
 - (a) Membership of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/2447,⁵ para. 224)
 - (b) Report of the eighth session of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/CN.4/721 and Add.1)
- 5. Communications (Economic and Social Council resolution 75 (V), as amended by resolutions 192 A (VIII) and 275 B (X))
- 6. Review of programme and establishment of priorities (Economic and Social Council resolution 590 A I (XX))
- 7. Report of the twelfth session of the Commission on Human Rights to the Economic and Social Council

⁵ Ibid., Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 8.

III. DEVELOPMENT OF THE WORK OF THE UNITED NATIONS FOR WIDER OBSERVANCE OF, AND RESPECT FOR, HUMAN RIGHTS AND FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS THROUGHOUT THE WORLD

A. Annual reports on human rights

21. The question of establishing a system of annual reports on human rights has been under consideration by the Commission for several years. At its sixth session, in 1950, a proposal was made by France under which the Commission would draw up a scheme of annual reports and each Member State would submit annually to the Secretary-General "a report on the manner in which it had promoted respect for, and the progress of, human rights in the course of the preceding year ".⁶ Subsequently, at the ninth session in 1953, the United States submitted a proposal concerning annual reports on human rights.⁷ Pursuant to Economic and Social Council resolution 501 C (XVI), Governments and

⁴ Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6.

⁶ For an account of this proposal see Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Eleventh Session, Supplement No. 5, para. 47, and E/CN.4/517.

⁷ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 8, paras. 263 to 270.

specialized agencies submitted comments on the proposal (E/CN.4/690 and Add.1 to 12 and E/CN.4/691 and Add.1). In resolution 739 (VIII) the General Assembly asked the Commission, through the Council, to consider the proposal at its tenth session. The text of the proposal was revised at the tenth session,⁸ and again at the eleventh session,⁹ during which no decision was taken by the Commission.

22. At the twelfth session the United States of America submitted a new text (E/CN.4/L.417) of the proposal. During the course of the debate the text was revised twice (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.1 and 2), and amendments thereto were submitted by Chile, China, Pakistan and the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.419), by the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.420), by Chile (E/CN.4/L.421), by the Soviet Union (E/CN.4/L.422, E/CN.4/L.424 and E/CN.4/L.424/Rev.1 and 2), by Lebanon E/CN.4/L.423, E/CN.4/L.427 and E/CN.4/L.427/Rev.1), and by Chile, China, Lebanon, Pakistan and the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.428). A statement of financial implications was issued by the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2/Add.1).

23. The Commission devoted eleven meetings (E/CN.4/ SR.515 to 525) to the debate on the proposal. At its 525th meeting it adopted, by 13 votes to 4, with 1 abstention, the following resolution :

Resolution I

ANNUAL REPORTS ON HUMAN RIGHTS 10

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that by Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter the Members of the United Nations have pledged themselves to take joint and separate action to promote universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Considering that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights sets forth the goals towards which all States Members of the United Nations should strive, both by their own efforts and through international co-operation, in the promotion of human rights,

Desiring to advance as rapidly as possible respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms and to stimulate Governments of Member States to press forward towards attaining the goals set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Convinced that certain positive steps to promote respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms can be taken without prejudice to the adoption and ratification of the covenants on human rights, including the measures of implementation provided therein, it being understood that this resolution shall be subject to review upon the coming into force of the covenants together with measures of implementation, Desiring to obtain from each State Member of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies information on developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty in its metropolitan area and Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories, with a view to learning the results obtained and difficulties encountered in their work for the wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world,

Having adopted as part of its programme of future work the consideration of general developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty, taking into account information furnished for publication in the Yearbook on Human Rights and additional reports from Member States and from specialized agencies pursuant to the terms of any further specific resolution with respect to reports adopted by the Commission,

Bearing in mind the special responsibilities of other organs of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies in the promotion of human rights and the facilities the latter may have for obtaining necessary information from their member States,

1. Decides to consider general developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty in States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies relating to the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and to the right of peoples to self-determination, taking into account information furnished for publication in the Yearbook on Human Rights and the additional reports from Member States and from specialized agencies referred to hereinafter; and to transmit to the Economic and Social Council such comments, conclusions and recommendations of an objective and general character, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, on the basis of the information and reports, as it deems appropriate;

2. Recommends that the Economic and Social Council request that each State Member of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies transmit annually to the Secretary-General a report describing developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty in its metropolitan area and Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories, such report to deal with the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and with the right of peoples to selfdetermination and to supplement the information furnished for publication in the Yearbook on Human Rights and to make reference to any relevant parts of reports already submitted to another organ of the United Nations or to a specialized agency;

3. Requests the Economic and Social Council to call the attention of each Member State to the advisability of setting up an advisory body, composed of experienced and competent persons, to assist their Government in the preparation of its report;

4. Requests the Secretary-General to prepare a brief summary of the reports upon a topical basis;

⁸ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Eighteenth Session, Supplement No. 7, paras. 336 to 351.

⁹ Ibid., Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, paras. 135 to 141. ¹⁰ A draft resolution on this subject for consideration by the Economic and Social Council appears in Annex I to this report as draft resolution A.

5. *Requests* the Economic and Social Council to invite the specialized agencies, in respect of rights coming within their purview, to transmit annually to the Secretary-General a report on a topical basis summarizing the information which they receive from their member States, and to co-operate in the full realization of the aim set forth in this resolution.

24. Before the Commission considered the substance of the proposal, the question was raised whether the Commission should take any decision at all on the question of annual reports pending the adoption and the entry into force of the International Covenants on Human Rights. It was noted that provisions on periodic reports were made in articles 17 to 24 of the draft Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 11 and in article 49 of the draft Covenant on Civil and Political Rights,¹¹ and that these provisions had not yet been considered by the General Assembly. Apprehension was expressed that the effect of the United States proposal might be that the draft covenants would be superseded and their moral and juridical force undermined. Furthermore, before the substantive provisions of the draft covenants had been adopted, there would be no international legal standards or criteria on the basis of which annual reports could be prepared. It was urged, therefore, that consideration of the United States proposal should be postponed.

25. The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that the draft resolution could not replace the covenants; and that it was not inconsistent with them, but complementary to them. It was noted that a considerable period of time would elapse before the covenants were adopted and ratified and the reporting procedures provided therein brought into effect. It was maintained that, in the meanwhile, it would be quite proper to initiate a system of annual reports, which could be reviewed upon the coming into force of the covenants. There were a variety of means for promoting human rights; the covenants were an important means, but other means might also be employed.

26. The first paragraph of the preamble reiterates the obligation of Member States under Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter of the United Nations. The second paragraph reaffirms the goals set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. It was thought that Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter constituted a sound juridical basis, and the Universal Declaration a proper historic setting, for the institution of a system of annual reports. The third paragraph expresses a desire to press forward towards the goals of the Declaration. These three paragraphs were adopted by 16 votes to none.

27. With a view to dispelling any doubt regarding the future of the draft covenants, Chile, China, Pakistan and the Philippines submitted a joint amendment (E/CN.4/L.419) calling for insertion of a new paragraph in the preamble, reading as follows:

"*Convinced* that certain positive steps to promote respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms can be taken without prejudice to the adoption and ratification of the covenants on human rights, including the measures of implementation provided therein."

To this Lebanon submitted an amendment (E/CN.4/ L.423), calling for the addition of the words, "it being understood that this resolution shall be subject to review upon the coming into force of the covenants together with measures of implementation "; this amendment was accepted (E/CN.4/L.428) by the sponsors of the joint amendment. It was stated that the introduction of a system of annual reports at the current time might be considered as a temporary or interim measure and should not be allowed to weaken the covenants; and that when the covenants came into force the existing system of reports should be reviewed in the light of the reporting procedures provided therein. The revised amendment of the five members (E/CN.4/L.428) was adopted by 17 votes to none, with 1 abstention; it constitutes the fourth paragraph of the preamble.

28. The fifth paragraph of the preamble sets forth the general purpose of the resolution, which is to obtain from Governments information on developments in the field of human rights " with a view to learning the results obtained and difficulties encountered in their work for the wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world ". This clause was an amendment by Chile (E/CN.4/L.421). The Soviet Union suggested a similar clause (E/CN.4/L.422):

"*Recognizing* that it is desirable for the States Members of the United Nations to keep each other informed of their successes and achievements in the sphere of human rights".

It was emphasized that the role of the Commission was not to criticize individual Governments on the basis of reports, but to ascertain " the results obtained and difficulties encountered " so that nations might share their experience with one another. The annual reports, it was suggested, might also show which countries might benefit from advisory services in the field of human rights and the scope and types of such services. As originally proposed (E/CN.4/L.417), information was to be obtained relating to measures taken to safeguard human liberty in metropolitan areas and Non-Self-Governing Territories; but upon the proposals of the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.420) and of the Soviet Union (E/CN.4/L.422), this was broadened to include Trust Territories. It was pointed out, on the one hand, that the Commission's debates on annual reports should not duplicate those of the Trusteeship Council and the Committee on Information from Non-Self-Governing Territories. On the other hand, it was emphasized that the Commission could hardly ignore any information on measures taken to safeguard human liberty in Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories. The United States accepted the amendments proposed by Chile and by the Philippines and the Soviet Union. The fifth paragraph of the preamble, thus revised (E/CN.4/ L.417/Rev.2), was adopted by 16 votes to none, with 2 abstentions.

29. The sixth paragraph of the preamble makes reference to point D of the programme of future work, which was adopted at the eleventh session of the Com-

¹¹ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Eighteenth Session, Supplement No. 7, annex I.

mission.¹² The seventh paragraph is intended to emphasize the respective spheres of responsibility of United Nations organs and of specialized agencies in the field of human rights in order to avoid any duplication of functions or any conflict of jurisdiction. The sixth paragraph of the preamble was adopted by 13 votes to none, with 5 abstentions. The seventh paragraph was adopted unanimously.

30. Under operative paragraphs 1 and 2 of the resolution, the Commission decided to consider annually general developments in the promotion of human rights, to transmit comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Economic and Social Council, and to recommend that the Council request Member States and specialized agencies to transmit annual reports on human rights. During the debate on these paragraphs, two main issues, namely the scope of annual reports and the competence of the Commission, were raised.

31. As to the scope of annual reports, the sponsor of the draft resolution proposed that the Commission should consider, and each State Member should report on, "developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty" (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2). It was observed that the expression "in the field of human rights " was used to cover all human rights without enumerating them.

The Soviet Union proposed (E/CN.4/L.424/ 32. Rev.2) that, in relation to paragraph 1 of the operative part, the Commission should decide "to implement the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the draft International Covenants on Human Rights, including the legislative and other measures adopted by States to combat discrimination based on race, national origin, sex or language, and also the steps taken by States responsible for the administration of Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories to implement the right of self-determination"; and that, in relation to paragraph 2, the report submitted by each State should "deal with the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the other rights mentioned in paragraph 1 of this resolution". It was stated that the reporting procedure should be used " to implement" the Declaration as well as the draft covenants; that the Declaration, which the General Assembly had proclaimed, and the draft covenants, which the Commission itself had recommended, constituted a sound basis on which annual reports might be prepared by Governments; and that such progressive measures as those for combating discrimination and implementing the right of self-determination, should be specially emphasized in the annual reports. On the other hand, it was stated that while the Universal Declaration was proclaimed by the General Assembly, the draft covenants had not yet been adopted and therefore could not be used as a basis for annual reports; that to single out some grounds of discrimination to the exclusion of others mentioned in the covenants might create a mistaken impression of their relative importance; and that the right of self-determination was applicable not only to the peoples of Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories

¹² See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, paras. 85 and 106 to 110. but to all nations and all peoples. It was also pointed out that the Administering Authorities had been reporting to the Trusteeship Council, under Article 88 of the Charter, on the "political . . . advancement" of the peoples of the Trust Territories, while the States responsible for the administration of Non-Self-Governing Territories were not obliged, under Article 73 e of the Charter, to submit information relating to "political conditions" in such territories. The Soviet amendment to operative paragraph 1 was rejected by 11 votes to 4, with 3 abstentions; as a consequence, the Soviet amendment to operative paragraph 2 was not put to a vote.

33. Lebanon proposed (E/CN.4/L.427/Rev.1) that, in respect of operative paragraph 1, the Commission should consider developments and progress "relating to the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and to the right of peoples to selfdetermination"; and that, in respect of operative paragraph 2, the annual reports should " deal with the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and with the right of peoples to self-determination". There was general agreement that the Declaration, which was proclaimed by the General Assembly as "a common standard of achievement for all peoples and all nations", constituted a proper basis on which annual reports might be submitted. There was a division of opinion as to the right of self-determination. On the one hand it was stated that self-determination was a political principle, not a right within the competence of the Commission on Human Rights; on the other hand, it was pointed out that the majority of the Members of the United Nations had considered that self-determination was a human right, in fact, a right without which all other rights would be devoid of any significance. and that it was therefore fully within the competence of the Commission. Others took the view that selfdetermination had attendant political implications which rendered the Commission an improper forum for its consideration.

34. The Lebanese amendment to paragraph 1 was divided into two parts, which were put to the vote by roll-call. The addition of the words "relating to the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights" was adopted by 15 votes to none, with 3 abstentions. The voting was as follows :

In favour: Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, Chile, China, France, Greece, India, Iraq, Lebanon, Mexico, Norway, Pakistan, Philippines, Poland, Turkey.

Abstaining: United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Australia.

35. It was decided, by 11 votes to 6, with 1 abstention, to add the words " and to the right of peoples to self-determination ". The voting was as follows :

In favour: Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, Chile, Greece, India, Iraq, Lebanon, Mexico, Pakistan, Philippines, Poland.

Against: United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Australia, China, France, Norway, Turkey.

Abstaining: United States of America.

36. The Lebanese amendment to operative paragraph 2 was similarly divided; the first part was adopted by 15 votes to none, with 3 abstentions, and the second part by 11 votes to 6, with 1 abstention.

37. The second main issue was whether the Commission was competent to take any action on annual reports and, if so, what kind of action. The United States draft had stated that the Commission " decides . . . to transmit to the Economic and Social Council such comments and conclusions on the information and reports as it deems appropriate" (E/CN.4/L.417). It was observed that, under its terms of reference the Commission might make " recommendations ", and that whatever "comments, conclusions and recommendations" the Commission might make should be " of an objective and general character" and should not be related to any particular country or territory. The Soviet Union proposed the deletion of the words "comments" and "conclusions", and of the phrase " on the information and reports ", and the addition of the words " in accor-dance with the Charter of the United Nations ", so that the clause would read "to transmit to the Economic and Social Council such recommendations of an objective and general character, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, as it deems appropriate " (E/CN.4/ L.424/Rev.2). It was stated that the Commission should not make "comments" or draw "conclusions", but should only make "recommendations", and that it should make recommendations of an objective and general character, not recommendations " on " the annual reports of individual Governments; and that all recommendations should be made "in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations". On the other hand, it was observed that annual reports were to be a channel through which experiences might be exchanged, but not an instrument by means of which individual Governments might be criticized; that in studying annual reports the Commission sometimes might not have any recommendations to make, but might wish to make "general comments " or draw " general conclusions " on successes and achievements of " general significance "; and that the phrase "in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations" was superfluous, since every action the Commission took must be in accordance with the Charter. As a compromise, however, the sponsor of the draft resolution agreed to modify the clause to read, "to transmit to the Economic and Social Council such comments, conclusions and recommendations of an objective and general character, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations, on the basis of information and reports, as it deems appropriate".

38. Under the draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2) as revised, the Council would request each State Member of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies to transmit an annual report to the Secretary-General. The view was expressed that the system of annual reports should be universal in character and that annual reports should be submitted by all States, whether Members or non-members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies.

39. As originally proposed (E/CN.4/L.417), the Commission itself was to request each State to transmit annual reports to the Secretary-General. The sponsor

of the draft resolution accepted a Philippine amendment (E/CN.4/L.420) to the effect that the Commission should recommend that the Economic and Social Council request each State to transmit an annual report (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2).

40. Operative paragraphs 1 and 2, as amended by Lebanon (E/CN.4/L.427/Rev.1), were adopted respectively, by 11 votes to 5, with 2 abstentions, and by 11 votes to 5, with 2 abstentions.

41. In operative paragraph 3 the Commission requests the Council to "call the attention of each Member State to the advisability of setting up an advisory body, composed of experienced and competent persons, to assist their Government in the preparation of its report". There was a feeling that this paragraph was unnecessary as each Government was entirely free to prepare its report in any way it wished. It was noted that the paragraph merely called the attention of each State to the advisability of setting up an advisory body, and that any Government, if it so wished, could choose leaders of non-governmental organizations, engaged in the promotion of human rights, to assist it in the preparation of its report. The paragraph was adopted by 9 votes to 4, with 5 abstentions.

42. Operative paragraph 4 defines the functions of the Secretary-General in respect of annual reports. As originally proposed (E/CN.4/L.417), the Secretary-General was requested " to prepare a brief summary and analysis of the reports on a topical basis". The observation was made that the Secretary-General should not be asked to prepare an "analysis", which might involve an evaluation of the substance of the reports. The Soviet Union proposed that the Secretary-General should be invited to prepare "brief summaries of the reports submitted" (E/CN.4/L.422). The original proposal, with the deletion of the words " and analysis", was adopted by 16 votes to none, with 2 abstentions.

43. In relation to operative paragraph 4, a suggestion was made that a committee of experts should be established to assist the Secretariat in the work of summarization, which would require not only great technical competence, but also sound judgement and orientation, and to assist the Commission in analysing the reports and formulating objective and general recommendations. However, no formal proposal was made on this matter.

44. Under operative paragraph 5 the Council would invite "the specialized agencies, in respect of rights coming within their purview, to transmit annually to the Secretary-General a report on a topical basis summarizing the information which they receive from their member States, and to co-operate in the full realization of the aim set forth in this resolution". It was generally agreed that a Government should not be requested to transmit to the Secretary-General any information in respect of rights coming within the purview of any specialized agency if such information had been transmitted to that agency; and that the respective roles of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies should be clearly delimited and co-ordinated. The paragraph was adopted by 16 votes to none, with 2 abstentions.

45. The question was raised whether non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council might be requested to submit annual reports on human rights, but no formal proposal was made. The general feeling was that the Commission should confine itself to official information which it might receive direct from Government or through specialized agencies.

46. Finally, it should be noted that there existed a doubt as to whether the system of annual reports was necessary or practicable or whether it would work. The preparation of reports covering the whole field of human rights, it was said, presented an onerous task for Governments, and the summarization of them a heavy burden for the Secretariat. Furthermore, the financial implications of the resolution were by no means insignificant; in fact, the project was so costly as to be disturbing. On the other hand, there was a feeling that, if all States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies participated in the reporting scheme faithfully, it could be of invaluable service in the development of human rights. The scheme now initiated could be revised and improved after the Commission acquired new experience. Pending the entry into force of the covenants on human rights, the new system of annual reports represented a constructive measure in the promotion of international co-operation for the enlargement of human freedom.

B. Studies of specific rights or groups of rights

47. At its ninth session, in 1953, the Commission received a United States proposal,¹³ which called for the initiation of a series of studies on specific aspects of human rights. In resolution 501 C (XVI), the Economic and Social Council requested Member States and specialized agencies to submit comments on the proposal ¹⁴ and in resolution 739 (VIII) the General Assembly asked the Commission, through the Council, to consider the proposal at its tenth session. The text of the proposal was revised at the tenth session of the Commission ¹⁵ and again at the eleventh session, ¹⁶ but no decision was taken on it.

48. At the twelfth session the United States submitted a new text of the proposal (E/CN.4/L.418). Briefly, under the proposal, the Commission was called upon to initiate a series of studies of specific rights or groups of rights; to request the Secretary-General to appoint an expert adviser for each subject selected for study, who would make the study in his own name and under his own responsibility, with such assistance from the Secretariat as he might require; and to select, subject to the approval of the Economic and Social Council, as its first subject for study, the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile. During the discussion the text of the proposal was revised twice (E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.2 and E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.3 and Corr.1), and amendments thereto were submitted by

Chile, China, Lebanon, Pakistan and the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.430), by Chile E/CN.4/L.431, by Greece, India, Pakistan and the Philippines (E/CN.4/L.432) and by India (E/CN.4/L.433).

49. The Commission discussed the question in a total of eleven meetings (E/CN.4/SR.525 to 535). At its 535th meeting, it adopted, by 11 votes to 3, with 4 abstentions, the following resolution:

Resolution II

STUDIES OF SPECIFIC RIGHTS OR GROUPS OF RIGHTS 17

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that by Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter the Members of the United Nations have pledged themselves to take joint and separate action to promote universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion,

Considering that the Universal Declaration of Human Rights sets forth goals towards which all States Members of the United Nations should strive, both by their own efforts and through international cooperation, in the promotion of human rights,

Desiring to strengthen the work of the United Nations for wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Convinced that certain positive steps to promote respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms can be taken without prejudice to the adoption and ratification of the covenants on human rights, including the measures of implementation provided therein,

Having adopted as a part of its programme of future work the undertaking of studies of specific rights or groups of rights, stressing general developments, progress achieved, and measures taken to safeguard human liberty, with such recommendations as may be necessary,

Recognizing that such studies are necessary for the purpose of ascertaining the existing conditions, the results obtained and the difficulties encountered in the work of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies for the wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms,

Bearing in mind the special responsibilities of the specialized agencies as regards certain human rights,

1. Decides:

(a) To undertake studies of specific rights or groups of rights in States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies and to stress in these studies general developments, progress achieved and measures taken to safeguard human liberty, with such recommendations of an objective and general character as may be necessary;

¹³ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 8, paras. 273 to 284.

¹⁴ See E/CN.4/690 and Add. 1 to 12 and E/CN.4/691 and Add.1. ¹⁵ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Eighteenth Session, Supplement No. 7, paras. 355 to 361.

¹⁶ Ibid., Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, paras. 161 to 177.

 $^{^{17}}$ A draft resolution on this subject for consideration by the Economic and Social Council appears in annex I to this report as draft resolution B.

(b) To select, subject to the approval of the Economic and Social Council, specific subjects for study, provided that no subject shall be selected which can more appropriately be studied by another organ of the United Nations or by a specialized agency;

2. *Decides* to appoint a committee of the Commission consisting of four members to be elected by the Commission, which shall:

(a) Prepare the study, bearing in mind the terms of sub-paragraph (a) of operative paragraph 1 hereof, with such assistance from the Secretariat as it may require, utilizing published material and written statements necessary for the study, such material to be drawn from the following sources: (i) Governments of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, (ii) the Secretary-General, (iii) specialized agencies, (iv) non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council, and (v) writings of recognized scholars and scientists;

(b) Proceed with the work of the study with a view to submitting a preliminary report at the session of the Commission following its appointment and, if possible, a complete report at the succeeding session;

3. *Requests* the Secretary-General to assist the committee in the study;

4. *Requests* the Economic and Social Council to invite the States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, in transmitting the reports requested under the resolution on annual reports (see paragraph 23 of this report), to deal in particular with the right or group of rights currently selected for study under the terms of this resolution;

5. *Requests* the Economic and Social Council to invite the specialized agencies and the non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council to co-operate in carrying out this resolution;

6. *Decides* to select, subject to the approval of the Economic and Social Council, as its first subject for study, the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile.

50. During the debate a general question was raised as to the value of the proposed programme of studies. Various views were expressed. The sponsor of the draft resolution expressed the opinion that the studies would be valuable in themselves as a means of ascertaining the existing situation regarding human rights, the progress which was being achieved and the difficulties which were being encountered, and that an exchange of experience through such studies would be of value to Member States.

51. Other members stated that the studies, if they were authoritative and objective, would enable the Commission, within the limits of its terms of reference, to evolve "standards or models" of which Governments could make use as they wished in furthering the observance of human rights. They could also serve as bases for drafting international conventions on specific rights or groups of rights, or for making "recommendations

of an objective and general character ". Furthermore, systematic accounts of laws and practices relating to specific rights or groups of rights would be of great value in that they would enable nations to learn from one another the results obtained and difficulties encountered in the evolution and application of human rights.

52. On the other hand, it was stated that the Commission should not authorize a series of studies, or a vague programme of studies, which might take ten to twenty-five years to complete, without knowing precisely what was involved. The studies, especially if they were conducted by experts who were responsible only to themselves, would be unrealistic and academic in character: and such a procedure for making the studies would be particularly disquieting. Furthermore, the programme of studies, as proposed by the United States, could not but undermine the moral and juridical force of the covenants on human rights and would retard the adoption, ratification and entry into force of those instruments. The standards of human rights, it was said, had already been formulated in the draft covenants. For example, the Commission had already discussed at length "the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile " and had clearly formulated its recommendations in articles 9, 12 and 13 of the draft Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The Commission should not authorize a second round of studies on subjects in respect of which exhaustive studies and appropriate recommendations had already been made. As the Commission already had a heavy programme of work, it was urged that consideration of the proposal to undertake a series of studies should be postponed. It was also pointed out by some members that, while there was no practical necessity to undertake such studies as were proposed, the studies themselves might be used for interference in the domestic affairs of States and would no facilitate the improvement of relations between them.

53. The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that the proposed studies would not be in conflict with the draft covenants. They felt that the studies could be undertaken on an experimental basis.

54. In the resolution, as adopted, there are seven paragraphs in the preamble and six in the operative part.

55. The first paragraph of the preamble reiterates the obligation of Member States under Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter of the United Nations. The second paragraph reaffirms the goals set forth in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The third paragraph expresses a desire to strengthen the work of the United Nations in the field of human rights. These paragraphs were adopted by 15 votes to none, with 3 abstentions. The first two paragraphs, it may be noted, are identical with the first two paragraphs of the preamble of the resolution on annual reports on human rights (see paragraph 23 above). It was felt that the Charter and the Declaration could be appropriately cited in the preambles of both resolutions.

56. In order to dispel any fear that the studies to be undertaken might undermine the status of the draft covenants on human rights, Chile, China, Lebanon, Pakistan and the Philippines submitted a joint amendment (E/CN.4/L.430) calling for the insertion of a new paragraph in the preamble, reading as follows:

"Convinced that certain positive steps to promote respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms can be taken without prejudice to the adoption and ratification of the covenants on human rights, including the measures of implementation provided therein ".

57. This paragraph was adopted by 14 votes to none, with 4 abstentions. It is similar to the fourth paragraph of the preamble of the resolution on annual reports (see paragraph 23 above), but does not contain the final clause of that paragraph, which reads: "it being understood that the resolution shall be subject to review upon the coming into force of the covenants together with measures of implementation". The view was expressed that the studies could be undertaken advantageously before as well as after the covenants came into force.

58. The fifth paragraph of the preamble makes a reference to point E of the programme of future work, which was adopted at the eleventh session of the Commission.¹⁸ This paragraph was adopted by 12 votes to 3, with 3 abstentions.

59. The sixth paragraph of the preamble indicates the general purpose of the resolution, namely, to ascertain "the existing conditions, the results obtained and the difficulties encountered in the work of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies for the wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms". It was emphasized that the studies were not intended to provoke controversy or discord, but to contribute to better understanding between nations. The Commission, it was said, certainly was not an international organ set up to supervise the implementation of human rights in individual States, but it should study successful experiments in the protection of specific rights or groups of rights, and should be aware of any physical or social obstacles to the full realization of human rights that might exist, so that the United Nations might be better able to promote international co-operation in the field of human rights. The paragraph was adopted by 11 votes to 3, with 4 abstentions.

60. In the seventh paragraph of the preamble the Commission bears in mind "the special responsibilities of the specialized agencies as regards certain human rights". It was observed, in this connexion, that the responsibilities of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies were seldom mutually exclusive and that there should be close co-operation and co-ordination in order to avoid any duplication of functions. The paragraph was adopted by 14 votes to none, with 4 abstentions.

61. Operative paragraph 1 is divided into two subparagraphs. In sub-paragraph (a) the Commission decides "to undertake studies of specific rights or groups

of rights in States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies and to stress in these studies general developments, progress achieved and measures taken to safeguard human liberty, with such recommendations of an objective and general character as may be necessary". During the debate on this subparagraph, three points were discussed. First, under the original proposal (E/CN.4/L.418) the Commission was " to initiate a series of studies ". The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that the Commission should not commit itself to "initiating a series of studies", and that it should not attempt to encompass the entire field of human rights. It should rather undertake one study at present, and if the study should prove to be useful, it could take up another study. In other words, the studies should be conceived on an experimental basis. The sponsor of the draft resolution agreed to change the words " initiate a series of studies" to "undertake studies" (E/CN.4/L.418/ Rev.3), which was the wording of point E of the Commission's programme of work and which was broader than a single study but did not commit the Commission to a series of studies. Secondly, an opinion was expressed that the studies should not be confined to "States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies", but should be global in character and include all States, peoples and nations. Thirdly, the original text (E/CN.4/L.418) contained the phrase "with such recommendations as may be necessary". The sponsor of the draft resolution agreed to amend the phrase to read "with such recommendations of an objective and general character as may be necessary" (E/CN.4/L.418/ Rev.3), it being understood that the recommendations of the Commission should not refer to particular countries or territories (see operative paragraph 1 of the resolution on annual reports, in paragraph 23 above). Paragraph 1(a) was adopted by 12 votes to 3, with 3 abstentions.

62. In paragraph 1(b), the Commission decides "to select, subject to the approval of the Economic and Social Council, specific subjects for study, provided that no subject shall be selected which can more appropriately be studied by another organ of the United Nations or by a specialized agency". The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that the Commission should not choose any subject which was being studied, or could be more appropriately studied, by another organ of the United Nations or by a specialized agency. Paragraph 1(b) was adopted by 13 votes to 3, with 2 abstentions.

63. Operative paragraph 2 relates to the method of study. Three questions were discussed. The most important of these concerned the person or organ to whom the study was to be entrusted. The other questions related to the sources of information and the schedule of work. It was the opinion of the majority that the method of study was a crucial problem, for the choice of a method would materially influence the future work of the Commission.

64. The sponsor of the draft resolution had proposed that the Secretary-General should be requested to appoint as an expert adviser "a person of high standing and of recognized competence", who was to prepare the study

¹⁸ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, paras. 85 and 111 to 113.

"in his own name and under his own responsibility" (E/CN.4/L.418). It was stated that, if the study was to be objective and authoritative, it must be entrusted to an eminent person who was independent and impartial, and not under the instruction of any Government. Against this proposal it was argued that no person, however eminent, could be completely independent or impartial or free from political influence or from philosophic preferences. The study was too important to be entrusted to a single individual who would be responsible to none but himself. Furthermore, it would be very difficult, and perhaps it would not be fair, to engage a person of high standing and of recognized competence in a study, which might take two or three years, without appropriate remuneration, but the General Assembly, in resolution 677 (VII), had established the rule that the appointment of a person as rapporteur of a United Nations body should carry no remuneration, as such appointment conferred honour upon his country and distinction upon himself. Attention was also drawn to the difference between an expert adviser appointed by the Secretary-General and a rapporteur appointed by the Commission. It was said that if a rapporteur were to be appointed, he should be appointed by the Commission itself.

65. As a result of the exchange of opinions, Greece, India, Pakistan and the Philippines submitted a joint amendment (E/CN.4/L.432) whereby the Commission itself would appoint a committee consisting of four members, to be elected by the Commission, instead of requesting the Secretary-General to appoint an expert adviser. Such a committee, it was said, would be more likely to be able to produce an objective study than would an individual expert, and the work of the committee would have a better chance of acceptance than that of an individual. It was suggested that the committee might meet immediately after or before each session of the Commission, that it might designate a chairman or rapporteur who would consult the other members by correspondence on matters as they arose, and that there would be no financial implications. This amendment, it was further noted, was in full accord with the rules of procedure of functional commissions. The question was asked whether, in the event that a member of the committee should retire before the study was completed, that member would continue to serve on the committee. A suggestion was made that as vacancies occurred, they could be filled. At the same time, other members pointed out that even if the studies were entrusted, not to an expert, but to a committee, the draft resolution would still not be acceptable to them.

66. Another suggestion was made that the Commission might request the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities to make the studies. However, it was observed that the Sub-Commission already had a heavy programme of work and that, although such studies might be within its terms of reference, the members of the Sub-Commission were chosen as experts in the field of prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities and should not be requested to make studies which the Commission itself might wish to make. No formal proposal on this point was submitted.

67. Finally, the United States submitted a compromise proposal under which the Secretary-General would appoint an expert adviser who would prepare the study " in consultation with the Bureau of the Commission" (E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.3/Corr.1). It was argued that the study should be made by an independent expert in order to ensure its impartiality and objectivity, but that the expert should consult the officers of the Commission in order that he might benefit from their views and possibly enhance the chances of acceptability of the study by the Commission. This proposal, however, was opposed on the grounds that no eminent authority could be expected to revise his study or change his opinion on account of any advice of Government representatives, nor could the Bureau, in a consultative capacity, be expected to assume any responsibility for the study of the expert adviser.

68. As to the question of the sources of information, the original text of the draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.418) contained the phrase "utilizing published material and written statements necessary for the study". The opinion was expressed that the sources of information should be defined as clearly as possible so that no propaganda material or unreliable information might be used. It was further suggested that the sources should be specified and should be similar to those which the Rapporteurs of the Sub-Commission were to utilize in the studies of discrimination and which had been approved by the Commission itself at its tenth session.¹⁹ The sponsor of the draft resolution proposed that the sources should be: "(i) Governments of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, (ii) the Secretary-General, (iii) specialized agencies, (iv) non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council, and (v) writings of recognized scholars and scientists". The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that Governments, the Secretary-General and specialized agencies were appropriate sources, although the view was expressed that such sources should not be exclusive. There was some opposition to utilizing unofficial sources of information, which might cause serious political and psychological repercussions.

69. The question was asked whether there should be any time limit for the completion of the study. The majority of the members of the Commission were of the opinion that whoever was appointed to make the study should submit a preliminary report at the session of the Commission following the appointment and, if possible, a complete report at the succeeding session. The view was expressed that two studies would not be undertaken concurrently, and that ordinarily one study would be completed before another study was undertaken.

70. Operative paragraph 2 was voted on as follows. The joint amendment (E/CN.4/L.432) as revised,²⁰ which read "*Decides* to appoint a committee of the Commission consisting of four members, to be elected by the Commission, which shall", was adopted by 9 votes to 2, with 7 abstentions. Sub-paragraph (a) was put to the vote in parts. The part reading "(a) Prepare the study,

 ¹⁹ Ibid., Eighteenth Session, Supplement No. 7, para. 418.
²⁰ See E/CN.4/SR.535.

bearing in mind the terms of sub-paragraph (a) of operative paragraph 1 hereof, with such assistance from the Secretariat as it may require, utilizing published material and written statements necessary for the study, such material to be drawn from the following sources: (i) Governments of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, (ii) the Secretary-General, (iii) specialized agencies", was adopted by 13 votes to 3, with 2 abstentions. The phrase "(iv) non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council" was adopted by 11 votes to 3, with 4 abstentions. The phrase "(v) writings of recognized scholars and scientists" was adopted by 11 votes to 3, with 4 abstentions. Sub-paragraph (b), which read "Proceed with the work of the study with a view to submitting a preliminary report at the session of the Commission following its appointment and, if possible, a complete report at the succeeding session", was adopted by 13 votes to 3, with 2 abstentions. Paragraph 2, as a whole, was adopted by 12 votes to 3, with 3 abstentions.

71. Operative paragraph 3, in which the Commission requests the Secretary-General to assist the committee in the study, was adopted by 16 votes to none, with 2 abstentions. In operative paragraph 4 the Commission requests the Economic and Social Council "to invite the States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, in transmitting the reports requested under the resolution on annual reports, to deal in particular with the right or group of rights currently selected for study under the terms of this resolution". In operative paragraph 5 the Commission requests the Council " to invite the specialized agencies and the non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council to co-operate in carrying out this resolution". Paragraphs 4 and 5 were adopted by 12 votes to 3, with 3 abstentions.

72. The final paragraph of the resolution deals with the first subject of study. Three proposals were made. The sponsor of the draft resolution proposed that the Commission should "select, subject to the approval of the Economic and Social Council, as its first subject for study, the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile". It was stated that this right, which was set forth in Article 9 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, was one of the basic rights of man. It was a subject on which Governments had already been requested to submit statements for publication in the Yearbook on Human Rights for 1955.²¹ It was, furthermore, a subject on which no special studies had been made by any United Nations organ or by any specialized agency. Against this subject it was said that the word "arbitrary" was vague or not precise in meaning. The Australian representative presented a working paper (E/CN.4/L.429) in which it was suggested that "the word 'arbitrary' in the definition of this study should be understood to mean arrest or detention either:

(a) On grounds or in accordance with procedures other than those established by law, or

(b) Under the provisions of a law the basic purpose of which is incompatible with respect for the right to liberty and security of person ".

73. Some members considered the working paper valuable but others pointed out that the definition of "arbitrary" arrest or detention given in the working paper reflected only the opinion of the author. The Commission felt that it was not prepared at the twelfth session to enter into the substance of the matter. The view was expressed that one of the results of the proposed study would be to define the term "arbitrary".

74. As the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile was considered somewhat controversial in character, the representative of Chile proposed another subject, namely, the right of motherhood and childhood to receive special care and assistance (E/CN.4/L.431). This right was proclaimed in Article 25, paragraph 2, of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. It was a social right, less controversial in character than a civil or political right, it was in a field in which international co-operation appeared to offer the best prospects of success, and it would also favour the more needy classes. Against this proposal it was pointed out that the right of motherhood and childhood was a subject in which other organs of the United Nations and certain specialized agencies had been interested. The Social Commission was concerned with the subject and the Commission on the Status of Women had just decided at its tenth session to take up the subject of "working women, including working mothers ".22 To choose this subject, it was stated, would be contrary to paragraph 1(b), in which it was provided that " no subject shall be selected which can be more appropriately studied by another organ of the United Nations or by a specialized agency".

75. As a third subject, India suggested the right of freedom of information, which the General Assembly, in resolution 59 (I), had declared to be " a fundamental human right" and the "touchstone of all the freedoms to which the United Nations is consecrated". Since the Sub-Commission on Freedom of Information and of the Press had been abolished and there was no other technical body of the United Nations dealing with the subject, the Commission, it was suggested, could appropriately take up the study of that right. On the other hand, the opinion was expressed that freedom of information had been a most controversial problem and was a subject of which the Economic and Social Council and the General Assembly had been seized. It was pointed out by some members that, apart from the studies made by the Sub-Commission, a special rapporteur appointed by the Council had already prepared an excellent study on freedom of information. Furthermore, a draft Convention on Freedom of Information was still pending before the General Assembly.

76. After discussion, the representative of India proposed an amendment (E/CN.4/L.433) to the final paragraph of the draft resolution, by which the Commission would "forward to the Economic and Social Council the following three subjects for the selection of one of them as the first subject for the proposed study:

²¹ For the resolution on the Yearbook adopted at the eleventh session of the Commission, see Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, para. 28.

²² See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twenty-second Session, Supplement No. 4, para. 182.

"(1) The right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile,

"(2) The right of motherhood and childhood to receive special care and assistance,

"(3) The right of freedom of information".

77. There was a feeling that the Commission, being a functional organ of the Council, should itself select a subject and request the Council's approval, instead of leaving the choice to be made by the parent body. The Indian amendment was rejected by 5 votes to 3, with 10 abstentions. The Chilean amendment was subsequently withdrawn. The final paragraph of the original draft resolution was adopted by 9 votes to 3, with 6 abstentions.

78. The statement of financial implications (E/CN.4/ L.418/Add.1), issued by the Secretary-General, was discussed. Some felt that the project was too costly and feared that the results might not justify the expenditures. The Commission should rather concentrate the limited resources at its disposal on projects likely to bring practical results in a reasonable space of time. Others thought that the project should not be shelved merely because of its financial implications. Although there should not be excessive optimism regarding the results to be expected, it was felt that the project should be undertaken, at least on an experimental basis.

At its 543rd meeting the Commission considered the question of the election of the members of the committee to undertake the study of the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile. Two views were expressed. One view was that the Commission should not, at its current session, elect the members of the committee, as the subject selected for study had to be approved by the Economic and Social Council and the financial implications by the General Assembly, before the study could be undertaken. Furthermore, the Council might also change the composition of the committee. The other view was that the Commission should elect the members of the committee at its current session. Should the Council choose another subject, the committee so elected would undertake a study of that subject. By 5 votes to 3, with 9 abstentions, the Commission decided to hold an election, at its 545th meeting, of the members of the committee.

80. At its 545th meeting the question was raised whether the members of the committee were to be individuals or States. After an exchange of opinion, it was agreed that the members of the committee were States, not individuals.

81. The view was expressed that the composition of the committee should reflect the principle of equitable geographical representation and should also ensure the representation of varying forms of civilization and legal systems.

82. Although nominations were made, it was agreed that each member of the Commission might vote for any four States members of the Commission. A motion to postpone the election until the following meeting was rejected by 5 votes to 4, with 8 abstentions. The Commission then elected, by secret ballot, the following

States as members of the committee: Chile, Norway, Pakistan and the Philippines.

83. The committee held its first meeting on 28 March 1956 and elected the representative of the Philippines, Mr. F. M. Serrano, as its Chairman-Rapporteur. It had a preliminary discussion of its programme of work, made certain recommendations to the Secretariat and decided to authorize the Chairman-Rapporteur to carry out such functions as might be necessary in connexion with its preliminary work.

C. Advisory services in the field of human rights

At its tenth session, the General Assembly adopted 84. resolution 926 (X), by which it established a broad programme of advisory services in the field of human rights. The programme embraces the previous separate programmes relating to the promotion and safeguarding of the rights of women (General Assembly resolution 729 (VIII)), the eradication of discrimination and protection of minorities (General Assembly resolution 730 (VIII)), and the promotion of freedom of information (General Assembly resolution 839 (IX) and Council resolution 574 A (XIX)). The Secretary-General was authorized, subject to the directions of the Council, " to make provision at the request of Governments and with the co-operation of the specialized agencies where appropriate and without duplication of their existing activities. for the following forms of assistance with respect to the field of human rights: (i) advisory services of experts; (ii) fellowships and scholarships; (iii) seminars". The General Assembly, inter alia, requested the Secretary-General to report regularly to the Economic and Social Council, to the Commission on Human Rights and, as appropriate, to the Commission on the Status of Women, on the measures taken by him in compliance with the terms of the resolution.

85. The Commission discussed item 3 (c) of its agenda, "Advisory services in the field of human rights", at its 535th to 537th meetings. The Commission agreed to consider, together with this item, chapter 10 and annex I of the report of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/CN.4/721). Annex I of the Sub-Commission's report contained a draft resolution on advisory services in the field of human rights submitted by the Sub-Commission for consideration and adoption by the Commission.

86. The Commission had before it a report by the Secretary-General on advisory services in the field of human rights (E/CN.4/722 and Corr.1). In the annex to the report the text of a *note verbale* from the Secretary-General to Governments was reproduced. In the note, the Secretary-General informed the Governments that, although the programme of advisory services in the field of human rights was distinct and separate from the technical assistance programmes in the fields of economic development, advisory social welfare services and public administration, the existing machinery of the Technical Assistance Administration and the services of the Resident Representatives of the Technical Assistance Board and of national committees should, as appropriate, be utilized. He further indicated the procedures by which requests for services of experts, for fellowships and scholarships and for seminars might be made.

87. A draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.434) on advisory services in the field of human rights was submitted jointly by Mexico, Pakistan, the Philippines and the United States. This draft resolution, as orally revised, was adopted at the 537th meeting by 14 votes to none, with 4 abstentions. The resolution reads as follows:

Resolution III

ADVISORY SERVICES IN THE FIELDS OF HUMAN RIGHTS

The Commission on Human Rights,

Having noted with satisfaction that General Assembly resolution 926 (X), on advisory services in the field of human rights, authorizes the following forms of assistance : (a) advisory services of experts, (b) fellowships and scholarships, and (c) seminars,

Expressing the hope that all three forms of assistance will be availed of.

Taking note of the first report of the Secretary-General on advisory services in the field of human rights (E/CN.4/722 and Corr.1),

Considering that the report and draft resolution of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/CN.4/721, chapter X and annex I) emphasize the desirability of holding seminars on the prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities,

Considering that the Commission on the Status of Women at its tenth session adopted a resolution ²³ endorsing the use of seminars to assist women who have recently acquired political rights or do not yet fully exercise them,

Requests the Secretary-General to explore during the current year, in consultation with Governments and specialized agencies and in accordance with resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly, due regard being had to operative paragraph 7 thereof, the desirability of holding seminars in the field of human rights, especially with regard to the prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities.

88. Most of the members stressed the usefulness of advisory services in the field of human rights. It was pointed out that all three forms of assistance envisaged in the programme approved by the General Assembly were known and proven methods of exchanging experience and might be useful in assisting States in practical implementation of human rights. The programme, however, was at an experimental stage. It was felt that the Commission should proceed cautiously with its new undertaking, and for that reason it was generally agreed that the action called for under the joint draft resolution, which was exploratory in character, was most appropriate at that stage. Some members, while sceptical of the value of advisory services, particularly the services of experts, in the field of human rights, stated that they had no objection to the resolution since it was explora-

²³ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twenty-second Session, Supplement No. 4, para. 159. tory and did not imply any final decision on the problems involved.

89. The first paragraph of the preamble, in which the Commission notes with satisfaction resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly, on advisory services in the field of human rights, was adopted by 15 votes to none, with 3 abstentions. The second paragraph was adopted by the same number of votes, and the third was adopted unanimously. The fourth paragraph, which was revised to meet the objection that it was inappropriate to take note of the report of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities, which had not yet been discussed, was adopted unanimously. The fifth paragraph, which refers to the adoption by the Commission on the Status of Women at its tenth session of a resolution endorsing the use of seminars in the promotion of political rights of women, was also adopted unanimously.

90. In the operative part of the resolution the Commission requests the Secretary-General "to explore during the current year, in consultation with Governments and specialized agencies and in accordance with resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly, due regard being had to operative paragraph 7 thereof, the desirability of holding seminars in the field of human rights, especially with regard to the prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities". This paragraph was adopted by 14 votes to none, with 4 abstentions.

91. During the discussion it was explained that the joint draft resolution took account of the draft resolution submitted by the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities, expanding it, however, to cover the entire field of human rights. The phrase "including the prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities" in the original joint draft was changed to "especially with regard to the prevention of discrimination and protection of minorities", in order to meet the objection that the original text did not take due account of the initiative taken by the Sub-Commission. The sponsors of the joint draft also agreed to replace the word "possibility" by the word "desirability", which was thought to be a stronger and more positive term.

92. A suggestion was made in the course of the debate that the Commission's resolution should include reference to participation by non-governmental organizations in the seminars to be organized under the programme. The view was expressed that in order to have the desired effect on public opinion the seminars should be attended not only by representatives of Governments but also by representatives of non-governmental organizations. The representative of India, supported by the representative of Greece, proposed (537th meeting) the addition of a new operative paragraph as follows:

"Invites the non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council to extend their co-operation to the proposed seminars".

In reply, it was pointed out that such a clause was unnecessary since the draft resolution already contained references to resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly, which had expressed its hope that non-governmental

organizations, universities and other institutions would co-operate in the programme of advisory services. The view was also expressed that while the aim of the amendment was praiseworthy, the Commission should not lay down a hard and fast rule, but should leave host Governments undertaking responsibilities for seminars free to decide whether or not to invite the co-operation of nongovernmental organizations. However, in an attempt to meet the point raised, the sponsors of the joint draft resolution agreed to insert after the words " in accordance with resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly" the phrase "due regard being had to operative paragraph 7 thereof". The representatives of India and Greece thought that the change did not entirely meet their point, which was to ensure the co-operation of non-governmental organizations in the seminars when they were actually held and not at the exploratory stage; however, they did not press their point, since it could be taken up at some later stage.

The question was raised whether it was proper for the Commission to express preference for seminars, which constituted only one of the three forms of assistance envisaged in the programme of advisory services approved by the General Assembly. It might give the impression that the Commission was not in entire agreement with resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly. It was also pointed out that the programme approved by the General Assembly was only in its initial stages and it would be premature for the Commission to single out and stress one type of assistance. As no seminars had as yet been held under the programme, it was difficult to anticipate whether they would prove successful. The Commission should have more information before attempting to evaluate the programme. That no requests for advisory services had been received so far might be due to the fact that Governments had not yet had time to determine the type of service they required or were reluctant to request any service when the fund available was as small as \$50,000.

94. In reply, it was stated that no preference was being expressed for one form of assistance. The first two paragraphs of the preamble stressed all three forms of assistance authorized by the General Assembly. However, special attention was drawn to seminars in view of the recommendation of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities. It was emphasized that seminars, if attended by qualified persons, would make a large contribution to the development of human rights and that the value of seminars should not be assessed in quantitative terms. Moreover, this form of assistance offered interesting possibilities, particularly since it would involve participation by many Governments. It was pointed out that, as the Secretary-General had suggested in his statement (E/CN.4/L.416), a country which had some fruitful experience in dealing with problems concerning human rights might take the initiative in organizing a seminar to which representatives from other countries might be invited, or a group of Governments might organize seminars to discuss common or regional problems. Governments, in other words, would move from strength rather than from weakness.

be followed with regard to the holding of seminars. It was pointed out that resolution 926 (X) of the General Assembly appeared to lay down, in paragraph 3 (a) and (b), guidance for the Secretary-General in the matter of handling requests for experts and for fellowships and scholarships, but did not lay down specific policies with regard to the holding of seminars. Some members stressed that seminars could be organized under the General Assembly resolution only if requests for them were received by the Secretary-General from Governments; and that Governments should be in a position to follow up the results of the seminars. The view was also expressed that although the programmes established under resolution 926 (X) were distinct and separate from the other technical assistance programmes of the United Nations, the services provided for under that resolution should be patterned on those furnished under the other programmes. The existing machinery of the Technical Assistance Administration and the services of the Resident Representatives of the Technical Assistance Board and of national committees should, as appropriate, be utilized. It was also pointed out that the primary factor in deciding whether a seminar was to be held should be the number of countries showing interest in the subject rather than the fact that a particular Government felt it had something to offer.

96. The question how seminars were to be financed was also brought up. In particular it was asked what costs would be borne by a country which desired to hold a seminar, and in this connexion a clarification of the meaning of the phrase "with due regard to the greater need of the under-developed areas" in paragraph 3 (c) of resolution 926 (X) was also sought. Some members expressed the opinion that the prime responsibility for bearing the local cost of the seminars would, in accordance with normal United Nations practice in a matter of technical assistance, rest with the participating Governments. Paragraph 3 (c) of resolution 926 (X), which applied to seminars as well as to other forms of assistance envisaged in that resolution, laid down that the amount of assistance and the conditions under which it was to be rendered were to be decided by the Secretary-General with due regard to the greater needs of under-developed areas and in conformity with the principle that each requesting Government should assume responsibility, as far as possible, for all or a considerable part of the expenses connected with the assistance furnished to it. The view was held that the term "under-developed areas" referred to economically under-developed areas It was believed that paragraph 3(c) of the Assembly resolution would have to be worked out along the practical lines developed by the Technical Assistance Committee in relation to requests for seminars in the other fields of United Nations activity. It was pointed out that the practice was for participating Governments to pay the cost of their representatives' attendance at seminars, and for the host Government to meet the expenses of organizing the seminars. One representative pointed out that it was unnecessary for the Commission to go into the question since, in accordance with the usual practice, a special agreement would be concluded for each seminar and in such agreement the financial details would be settled.

95. Questions were raised concerning the policy to

D. Other questions

97. Under item 3 (d) of its agenda, the Commission had agreed to consider any questions arising out of its consideration of the "development of the work of the United Nations for the wider observance of, and respect for, human rights and fundamental freedoms throughout the world" (see paragraph 19 above). The Commission, at its 538th to 540th meetings, considered proposals relating to the following questions :

1. Draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child;

2. Preparation of a draft Convention on Discrimination in Education;

3. Right of asylum;

4. Celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

DRAFT DECLARATION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD

98. At its sixth session, the Social Commission adopted and transmitted to the Economic and Social Council a draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child.²⁴ By its resolution 309 C (XI) of 13 July 1950, the Council requested the Commission on Human Rights to consider the draft declaration and to communicate to the Council at its thirteenth session its observations on the principle and contents of it. The Secretary-General submitted a memorandum on the draft declaration (E/CN.4/512) to the Commission on Human Rights at its seventh session. The pressure of work, however, prevented the Commission from considering the substance of the draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child.

99. At the 538th meeting the Commission had before it a draft resolution submitted by the USSR (E/CN.4/L.425), which was adopted unanimously. The resolution reads as follows:

Resolution IV

DRAFT DECLARATION ON THE RIGHTS OF THE CHILD

The Commission on Human Rights,

Having in mind the fact that, under the programme it has adopted, one of its most important tasks is to promote the realization of the human rights ennunciated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and in the draft covenants on civil and political rights and on economic, social and cultural rights,

Having regard to the fact that in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the draft Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights stress is laid on the necessity for the adoption of special measures for the protection of mothers, children and young persons, and that the Social Commission of the United Nations has prepared a draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child, which declaration has been transmitted by the Economic and Social Council for the consideration of the Commission on Human Rights, *Decides* to include the question of the Declaration on the Rights of the Child in the agenda of the thirteenth session of the Commission on Human Rights.

100. All members of the Commission expressed their support of the proposal, which was regarded as a purely procedural matter. Some members expressed the view that the protection of the rights of the child, as well as those of the mother, was of very great importance. It was generally felt that as the draft declaration had been on the agenda of the Commission for a long time, a date should be set for its consideration.

> PREPARATION OF A DRAFT CONVENTION ON DISCRIMINATION IN EDUCATION

101. In his draft report to the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/CN.4/Sub.2/L.92), the Special Rapporteur on discrimination in education had suggested the advisability of preparing a draft Convention on Discrimination in Education.

102. The USSR submitted the following draft resolution E/CN.4/L.426 and Corr.1):

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that in its resolution 532 B (VI) of 4 February 1952, the General Assembly emphasized that "the full application and implementation of the principle of non-discrimination recommended in the United Nations Charter and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights are matters of supreme importance" and also drew attention to the particular importance of positive work in that field by all United Nations organs and institutions,

Attaching great importance to developing and improving the efficiency of the work of the Commission on Human Rights in combating discrimination in accordance with the programme of work adopted by the Commission at its eleventh session,

Noting that a proposal for an international Convention on the Prevention of Discrimination in Education was submitted to the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (E/CN.4/Sub.2/L.92), paras. 513 to 516),

Considering that the assumption by States Members of the United Nations of specific obligations in this field might prove to be an effective means of implementing the provisions of the Charter,

Resolves to invite the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities to prepare at its ninth session a draft international convention prohibiting discrimination in education on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other beliefs, national or social origin, property or other status, and to submit that draft convention to the Commission on Human Rights at its thirteenth session.

103. In support of the draft resolution, some members recalled the obligations with regard to non-discrimination placed upon the States Members of the United Nations by Article 1, paragraph 3, and Articles 55 and 56 of the Charter, as well as the view expressed in General

²⁴ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Eleventh Session, Supplement No. 3, annex II, draft resolution IV.

Assembly resolution 532 B (VI). In their opinion, combating discrimination in education was a most important and urgent task, and the adoption of an international convention was one of the most effective means of combating discrimination. They pointed out that Mr. Charles D. Ammoun, the Special Rapporteur, in his draft report (E/CN.4/Sub.2/L.92, paras. 513 to 516) submitted to the Commission at its eighth session, had proposed the drafting of such a convention, and that, in the course of the debate, several members of the Sub-Commission had expressed themselves in general agreement with the recommendation.

104. It was observed by some members that the adoption of conventions for eliminating discrimination in education and for ensuring respect for human rights in general was quite in conformity with the Charter of the United Nations. Those members of the Commission who supported the proposal further held that the drafting of separate instruments, in addition to the draft International Covenants on Human Rights, was contemplated in the programme of future work adopted by the Commission at its eleventh session;²⁵ under point A of the programme the Commission might take action " pursuant to measures of implementation under the covenants on human rights or other conventions on human rights and fundamental freedoms which may be concluded under United Nations auspices".

105. In the view of the author of the proposal, the contemplated instrument would not compete or conflict with the draft International Covenants on Human Rights, but would rather complement them; while under the draft Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights, each State party would undertake progressively to implement the rights provided therein without discrimination, the proposed convention would stipulate that discrimination in education should be eliminated immediately. The author, however, emphasized that his proposal, being procedural in character, did not prejudge the contents of the draft convention; its object was to speed up the preparation of such an instrument.

106. The majority of the members of the Commission, including some of those who declared themselves in agreement with the purpose of the draft resolution, held that the adoption of the proposal would be premature. It was emphasized that the Sub-Commission had not yet transmitted the report on discrimination in education to the Commission, nor even taken any decision on the recommendations contained in Mr. Ammoun's draft report. The Special Rapporteur might conceivably modify his recommendations after having revised his draft report in accordance with resolution B, adopted by the Sub-Commission at its eighth session (E/CN.4/ 721, para.101). The opinion was further expressed that pending the adoption of the draft International Covenants on Human Rights by the General Assembly, it was not desirable to prepare separate conventions on various aspects of discrimination or on particular human rights. Some doubts were also raised as to the Sub-Commission's competence to prepare international conventions and as to the appropriateness of entrusting a body of individual experts with a task which had political implications.

107. As a result of the exchange of views, the representative of the USSR agreed (538th meeting) that he would not press for a vote on his proposal, on the understanding that it would remain on the agenda and would be discussed when the Commission considered the question of discrimination in education. The Chairman noted that the proposal would not be put to a vote at the current session.

RIGHT OF ASYLUM

108. The question of the right of asylum was placed on the agenda of the fifth session of the Commission on Human Rights by virtue of a decision taken by the Commission at its second session, held in 1947.²⁶ At its fifth, sixth and eighth sessions, the Commission considered the question in connexion with the draft covenants on human rights, but was unable to agree on an article relating to the right of asylum. These and other developments concerning the right of asylum were reported in memoranda submitted to the Commission by the Secretary-General (E/CN.4/184, E/CN.4/520 and E/CN.4/713).

109. At its 539th meeting the Commission adopted, by 15 votes to none, with 2 abstentions, a draft resolution submitted by France (E/CN.4/L.435), which reads as follows:

Resolution V

RIGHT OF ASYLUM

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that the programme of the Commission calls for a continuation of efforts to promote all the human rights proclaimed in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Recalling that article 14 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights states that everyone has the right to seek and to enjoy in other countries asylum from persecution,

Noting that the Commission has been unable to include this right in the draft covenants on human rights,

Recalling that in 1947 the Commission decided to consider the problem of the right of asylum at the earliest opportunity,²⁶

Decides to place the question of the right of asylum on the agenda of its thirteenth session.

110. Some members expressed doubts as to the usefulness of any substantive discussion on the right of asylum, in view of the basic differences of opinion between States as to the scope of the right. As was shown during the debate in the course of the preparation of the draft covenants, some Governments considered the right of asylum to be the right of the individual to seek and enjoy asylum, while other Governments interpreted it as the right of the State to extend protection to whatever refugees it chose and to remain immune from interference from other States, including the States of origin of the refugees. According to those members who shared the latter opinion, article 14 of the Universal

²⁵ Ibid., Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, para. 85.

²⁶ Ibid., Sixth Session, Supplement No. 1, para. 48.

Declaration of Human Rights recognized the right of everyone to "seek" and to "enjoy" asylum, but not the right to "be granted" asylum. The opinion was expressed that, in those circumstances, the Commission could do nothing but invite States to be as generous as possible in the exercise of their prerogatives. Questions were also raised concerning the concept of "persecution", whether qualified or not by the word "political", and concerning the authority which was to apply the criteria for granting asylum. It was also asked whether the author of the proposal contemplated any action with regard to the right of asylum, which would fit into the new programme laid down in the resolutions on advisory services, annual reports, and studies of specific rights or groups of rights.

111. The majority of the members of the Commission thought it useful to include the question of the right of asylum in the agenda of the thirteenth session. It was generally felt that the importance of the subject, as well as its complexity, justified a substantive debate, during which an attempt might be made to reconcile different views. To facilitate such a debate, it was suggested that the Secretary-General should prepare a historical analysis of the previous discussions, on the basis of such material as was available in the Secretariat.

112. The author of the proposal acknowledged the difficulty of defining the right of asylum, but expressed the view that article 14, paragraph 2, of the Declaration should not be overlooked. He stressed that his proposal called for a purely procedural decision without prejudice to any action that the Commission might take at its thirteenth session. In particular, he did not intend to suggest any link between his proposal and the resolutions on advisory services, annual reports, and studies of specific rights or groups of rights.

CELEBRATION OF THE TENTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS

113. On 19 December 1948, the General Assembly, by its resolution 217 A (III)), adopted and proclaimed the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Subsequently, in resolution 423 (V), the General Assembly invited all States to adopt 10 December of each year as Human Rights Day to celebrate the proclamation of the Declaration. In order to celebrate the tenth anniversaty of the Declaration, which will fall on 10 December 1958, Mexico and the United States submitted a draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.436/Rev.1) which, as orally revised, was adopted by the Commission at its 540th meeting by 16 votes to none, with 1 abstention. The resolution reads as follows:

Resolution VI

CELEBRATION OF THE TENTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS ²⁷

The Commission on Human Rights,

Considering that 10 December 1958 will be the tenth anniversary of the adoption and proclamation by the General Assembly of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 423 (V) on Human Rights Day,

Desiring that plans be developed for the widest possible celebration of this anniversary,

1. Decides to appoint a Committee, consisting of the Member States represented on the Bureau of the Commission, to prepare such plans, in consultation with the Secretary-General and the appropriate authorities of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and other specialized agencies concerned, and interested non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council;

2. *Requests* the Committee to report to the Commission on Human Rights at its thirteenth session;

3. *Requests* the Economic and Social Council to invite the collaboration of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and other specialized agencies and non-governmental organizations concerned, in this undertaking.

114. It was the consensus of opinion that the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration should be given proper recognition as an event of outstanding importance. Some members, while agreeing with the purpose of the draft resolution, regretted that certain circumstances might prevent them from sharing the enthusiasm which the celebration would arouse, and hoped that, within the next few years, the Declaration would be more fully implemented throughout the world.

115. Some observations were made on the wording of the proposal. In its original form (E/CN.4/L.436). the draft resolution expressed the desire that " plans be developed for the celebration of the tenth anniversary by the United Nations, Member States and non-governmental organizations". An opinion was expressed that this wording was too restrictive since, in accordance with General Assembly resolution 423 (V) of 4 December 1950, Human Rights Day should be celebrated "in all countries". A formula was therefore proposed to the effect that the celebration should be made " on a world-wide basis, by all peoples and nations". It was agreed that the revised text, which contained the words "the widest possible celebration", and an additional paragraph in the preamble, " Bearing in mind General Assembly resolution 423 (V) on Human Rights Day", met this objection.

116. It was also observed that the first draft of the proposal invited UNESCO, but not the other specialized agencies, to collaborate in the preparation of the celebration; that it expressed the desire that non-governmental organizations should celebrate the anniversary, without expressly inviting those organizations to contribute to the work of the Committee mentioned in operative paragraph 1. It was suggested that all specialized agencies and non-governmental organizations concerned should be invited to collaborate in the preparation of the celebration. The final text of the proposal embodied these suggestions.

117. With regard to the procedure contemplated in

 $^{^{27}}$ A draft resolution on this subject for consideration by the Economic and Social Council appears in Annex I of this report as draft resolution C.

the draft resolution, an observation was made that the General Assembly, which had proclaimed the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, was the organ primarily concerned with any plans for the celebration of the anniversary, and that it might be proper for the Commission to ask, though the Economic and Social Council, the Assembly's approval of the proposed scheme. 118. It was generally felt that the proposal would permit a careful preparation of the celebration and that the Committee mentioned in operative paragraph 1 might recommend various measures, such as the printing of a commemorative publication and the holding of a special meeting of the General Assembly, at the time of the celebration.

IV. PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION AND PROTECTION OF MINORITIES

A. Membership of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities

119. At its ninth session the Commission elected twelve persons as members of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities, subject to the consent of their Governments, and decided that the term of office of the members of the Sub-Commission should terminate on 31 December 1956.²⁸

120. At its current session, the Commission was therefore again seized of the question of the membership of the Sub-Commission. The representative of the Soviet Union introduced a proposal for the re-election of the members of the Sub-Commission. In the course of a brief and general discussion (519th and 520th meetings), the majority of the members of the Commission expressed the opinion that, in the interests of efficiency and continuity, the term of office of the present members of the Sub-Commission should be extended. One representative, while agreeing that there was need for continuity, suggested that elections should be held in the usual way in order to give to nationals of other countries, especially the new Member States, the opportunity of serving on the Sub-Commission.

121. At the 520th meeting the representative of the Secretary-General announced that he had been informed by the Government of Denmark that Mr. Max Sørensen had indicated that he would no longer be able to participate in the work of the Sub-Commission. Several members of the Commission paid a tribute to the work of Mr. Sørensen as Chairman of the Sub-Commission.

122. At its 520th meeting, the Commission adopted the following resolution :

Resolution VII

MEMBERSHIP OF THE SUB-COMMISSION ON PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION AND PROTECTION OF MINORITIES

The Commission on Human Rights

1. Takes note with regret of the decision announced by Professor Sørensen, who has stated that he can no longer participate in the work of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities;

2. Decides that the term of office of the other

²⁸ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Sixteenth Session, Supplement No. 8, paras. 224 and 225. present members of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities shall be extended to 31 December 1959.

123. Paragraph 1 was adopted unanimously. Paragraph 2 was adopted by 17 votes to none, with 1 abstention. The draft resolution as a whole was adopted by 17 votes to none, with 1 abstention.

124. At its 542nd meeting, the Commission had before it the nomination by the representative of Norway (E/CN.4/125) of Mr. Vieno Voitto Saario (Finland), to fill the vacancy on the Sub-Commission. There were no other nominations, and the Chairman declared Mr. Saario elected as a member of the Sub-Commission.

125. The representative of Chile submitted a draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.438) by which the Commission would decide to increase the number of members of the Sub-Commission from twelve to fifteen in order to provide an opportunity for the appointment of experts from some of the countries recently admitted to membership of the United Nations.

126. A number of members of the Commission believed that it would be premature for the Commission to take such a decision, although some of them supported the principle underlying the Chilean proposal. They pointed out that the admission of sixteen new Member States created general problems, applicable to most if not all United Nations bodies, which would have to be the subject of general policy decisions by the principal organs of the United Nations. Only confusion would result if subsidiary organs were to take decisions before a general policy had been established. Other members opposed the Chilean proposal on the ground that, since members of the Sub-Commission were elected in their capacity as individuals, geographical factors were not of primary importance. They considered that the Sub-Commission might do better work if limited, as at present, to a small number of experts.

127. Members of the Commission who supported the adoption of the Chilean proposal stressed the importance of achieving the widest possible reflection of different cultures and systems within the Sub-Commission as soon as possible. They contended that the Commission was entitled to decide to expand the membership of the Sub-Commission on that basis alone, and some pointed out that if the general policy decisions referred to were taken only after the membership of the Economic and Social Council itself were increased—which would require amendment of the United Nations Charter—a decision to increase the membership of the Sub-Commission would be excessively and unjustifiably delayed. 128. The representative of Australia proposed that the Commission should adjourn the debate on the Chilean draft resolution for the time being. The proposal was adopted by 13 votes to 3, with 1 abstention.

B. Report of the eighth session of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities

129. The report of the eighth session of the Sub-Commission (E/CN.4/721 and Add.1) constituted item 4 (b) of the Commission's agenda. In the report the Sub-Commission had submitted only one recommendation to the Commission for consideration and adoption, relating to advisory services in the field of human rights (E/CN.4/721, annex I); the recommendation was dealt with by the Commission during the consideration of item 3 (c) of its agenda, which related to the same question (see paragraph 85 above).

130. The Commission held a general debate on the report of the Sub-Commission during its 540th to 544th meetings. It discussed and adopted two resolutions, the first on a further conference of non-governmental organizations interested in the eradication of prejudice and discrimination, the second on other matters relating to the work of the Sub-Commission.

CONFERENCE OF NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS INTERESTED IN THE ERADICATION OF PREJUDICE AND DISCRIMINATION

131. The Final Act of the Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations Interested in the Eradication of Prejudice and Discrimination (E/NGO/CONF.1/8) had been transmitted to the Sub-Commission by resolution IV adopted by the Commission on Human Rights at its eleventh session ²⁹ pursuant to resolution 546 (XVIII) of the Economic and Social Council. As requested, the Sub-Commission had included in the report of its eighth session its observations on the proceedings of the Conference (E/CN.4/721, chap. IX).

132. A statement, submitted jointly by eighteen non-governmental organizations, was circulated to the Commission (E/CN.4/NGO/67). The organizations sponsoring the statement were the Agudas Israel World Organization, the Commission of the Churches on International Affairs, the Consultative Council of Jewish Organizations, the Co-ordinating Board of Jewish Organizations, the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, the International Federation of Free Journalists, the International House Association, the International League for the Rights of Man, the International Society for the Welfare of Cripples, the International Union of Socialist Youth, the Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, the World Alliance of Young Men's Christian Associations, the World Assembly of Youth, the World Federation for Mental Health, the World Federation of Trade Unions, the World Federation of United Nations Associations,

²⁹ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, para. 72. the World Union for Progressive Judaism, and the World Veterans Federation. These non-governmental organizations submitted for the consideration of the Commission the general consensus of opinion that a second conference of non-governmental organizations interested in the eradication of prejudice and discrimination might be held from Monday to Friday in the week prior to the summer session of the Economic and Social Council in 1958, and at the same site if the Council met either at Geneva or at Headquarters. The view was expressed that it would be incumbent upon the conference to take note of the implementation of the resolutions of the first conference, and it was suggested that reports to that effect should be requested from the participating organizations.

133. Statements stressing the importance of the work accomplished by the first conference, and the desirability of having reports on the implementation of resolutions adopted by that conference, were made at the 540th and 541st meetings by representatives of the International Federation of Christian Trade Unions, the World Federation of Trade Unions, the Agudas Israel World Organization, the International Society for the Welfare of Cripples, the World Jewish Congress, and the World Organization of Catholic Women's Organizations.

134. In a draft resolution submitted by the representative of France (E/CN.4/L.439) it was proposed that the Commission should draw the attention of the Economic and Social Council to paragraph 4 (c) of resolution D annexed to the Final Act of the Conference (E/NGO/ CONF.1/8), in which the non-governmental organizations requested the Economic and Social Council to consider, after consultation with those organizations, the convening of another conference if possible within two years; and that it should request the Council to invite non-governmental organizations to state their views on the date, duration, programme, objectives and methods of that further conference.

135. In presenting his draft resolution the representative of France paid a tribute to the excellent work done by the first conference and expressed the hope that the Commission would encourage non-governmental organizations in the work which they had begun at that time. Several members of the Commission associated themselves with that view. Others, while agreeing that the first conference had been successful, raised the question whether the holding of a second conference was an urgent matter, particularly inasmuch as not all of the non-governmental organizations seemed to be agreed upon an appropriate date or agenda.

136. In the light of the discussion the representative of France orally revised his proposal, to the effect that the Commission should request the Secretary-General (a) to invite the non-governmental organizations to state their views on the date, duration, programme, objectives, and methods of a further conference, and (b) to transmit those views to the Sub-Commission and to the Commission in order that they might be considered at their respective sessions in 1957.

137. The revised proposal was adopted at the 543rd meeting by 15 votes to none, with 1 abstention. It reads as follows:

Resolution VIII

CONFERENCE OF NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS INTERESTED IN THE ERADICATION OF PREJUDICE AND DISCRIMINATION

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling the resolution, adopted at its eleventh session ³⁰ wherein it expressed its satisfaction at the holding of the Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations Interested in the Eradication of Prejudice and Discrimination,

Taking note (a) of resolution E, adopted by the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities at its eighth session (E/CN.4/ 721, para. 158), and (b) of paragraph 4 (c) of resolution D, annexed to the Final Act of the said Conference (E/NGO/CONF.178), wherein the non-governmental organizations requested the Economic and Social Council to consider, after consultation with those organizations, the convening of another conference,

Requests the Secretary-General to invite the nongovernmental organizations to state their views on the date, duration, programme, objectives and methods of this further conference, and to transmit these views to the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities and to the Commission on Human Rights for the consideration of those organs at their next sessions.

WORK PROGRAMME OF THE SUB-COMMISSION

138. In its report to the Commission (E/CN.4/721), the Sub-Commission had summarized its work and decisions on a number of matters, including the following:

(a) Study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation : report by the International Labour Office (chapter V),

(b) Study of discrimination in the field of education: draft report drawn up by the Special Rapporteur (Chapter VI);

(c) Further studies in the field of discrimination (chapter VII);

(d) Measures to be taken for the cessation of any advocacy of national, racial or religious hostility (chapter VIII); and

(e) Measures to be taken for the implementation of General Assembly resolution 644 (VII) and Economic and Social Council resolution 502 B I (XVI) (chapter XI).

139. These matters were touched upon by various members of the Commission, by the representatives of the ILO and UNESCO and by representatives of certain non-governmental organizations, in the course of the general discussion of the Sub-Commission's report. The representatives of China, the Philippines and the United States submitted a joint draft resolution (E/CN.4/L.440) on the report of the Sub-Commission on its eighth session.

Study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation

140. In resolution A, on the study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation (E/CN.4/721, para. 34), the Sub-Commission had expressed concern over the delay which had retarded consideration by the Sub-Commission of this important study, but had noted with satisfaction the decision to place this item on the agenda of the 40th session of the International Labour Conference. The Sub-Commission had noted further that the report to be submitted to the International Labour Conference would be communicated to the United Nations in time to afford the Sub-Commission the opportunity to submit its comments for consideration by the Conference, and had decided to give priority to the consideration of the subject of discrimination in employment and occupation at its ninth session, with a view to making recommendations within the framework of the United Nations.

141. At the Commission's 540th meeting the representative of the ILO explained the reasons for the delay in the preparation of the report and stated that it would, as indicated, be communicated to the United Nations in time to afford the Sub-Commission the opportunity to submit its comments on it for consideration by the International Labour Conference.

142. In the joint draft resolution submitted by China, the Philippines and the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.440), it was proposed that the Commission, bearing in mind the resolution of the Sub-Commission on the study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation, should note the decision of the Sub-Commission to give priority at its next session to the subject of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation.

Study of discrimination in the field of education

143. In resolution B, on the study of discrimination in education (E/CN.4/721, para. 101), the Sub-Commission had expressed its deep appreciation of the work already accomplished by Mr. Charles D. Ammoun, its Special Rapporteur on this subject, which in its view constituted a visible testimony of several months of voluntary and devoted labour; and had expressed its appreciation also to the Government of Lebanon for its co-operation in making it possible for Mr. Ammoun to do the work entrusted to him by the Sub-Commission. The Sub-Commission joined with the Special Rapporteur in expressing its high esteem of the assistance given by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, as well as the assistance provided by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). The Sub-Commission decided that Mr. Ammoun should continue as its Special Rapporteur on discrimination in the field of education and that he should undertake. for presentation at its next session, a revision of his draft report on the subject (E/CN.4/Sub.2/L.92 and addenda) in the light of any further information from the sources enumerated in his terms of reference as well as the observations and suggestions of the members of the Sub-Commission. The Sub-Commission decided further that a copy of Mr. Ammoun's draft report

³⁰ Ibid.

should be sent to the Commission on the Status of Women, for consideration and comment on the section relating to discrimination based on sex; and that another copy should be sent to the Director-General of UNESCO, inviting that organization to comment on the draft report and to lend such assistance to the Sub-Commission and its Special Rapporteur as might be considered appropriate.

144. At the Commission's 541st meeting the representative of UNESCO indicated that Mr. Ammoun's draft report would be given serious consideration by UNESCO, which had extended every aid to Mr. Ammoun in the preparation of the report. The matter had been placed on the agenda of the Executive Board's next session, to be held in April 1956. It was expected that the Board would instruct the secretariat of UNESCO to prepare observations on the draft report, which would then be considered by the Board at its July session. The final observations would be communicated to Mr. Ammoun and to the Sub-Commission.

145. In the joint draft resolution submitted by the representatives of China, the Philippines and the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.440), it was proposed that the Commission, bearing in mind that the Special Rapporteur had submitted a draft report for consideration by the Sub-Commission and that he had been requested to revise his draft in the light of the discussions on it, should commend the Sub-Commission and the Special Rapporteur for the successful initiation of the study of discrimination in education.

146. The representative of Chile suggested (544th meeting) that the Commission should express the hope that the Sub-Commission would present its report on discrimination in education to the Commission at its next session. The suggestion was accepted by the sponsors of the joint draft resolution.

Further studies in the field of discrimination

147. In resolution C, on further studies in the field of discrimination (E/CN.4/721, para. 118), the Sub-Commission had decided, within the framework of resolution III adopted by the Commission at its eleventh session ³¹ and resolution 586 C (XX) of the Economic and Social Council, to proceed with the study of discrimination both in the matter of political rights and in the matter of religious rights and practices, and to appoint two special rapporteurs, to whom those studies would be entrusted. It had decided moreover that the special rapporteurs, in carrying out the studies, should be guided, as appropriate, by the general instructions concerning the study of discrimination in the matter of education. The Sub-Commission had invited the Secretary-General to lend his assistance and co-operation in the course of 1956 to the study of discrimination in religious rights and practices, and in 1957 to the study of discrimination in political rights, such assistance and co-operation to be continued until both studies had been completed. The Sub-Commission had subsequently appointed Mr. Arcot Krishnaswami (India) as its Special Rapporteur in connexion with the study of discrimination in the matter of religious rights and practices, and Mr. Hernán Santa Cruz (Chile) as its Special Rapporteur in connexion with the study of discrimination in the matter of political rights.

148. In the joint draft resolution submitted by China, the Philippines and the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.440) it was proposed that the Commission, considering that the Sub-Commission had decided to proceed with studies of discrimination both in the matter of religious rights and practices and in the matter of political rights, should note this decision.

Scope of studies and character of recommendations

149. At its sixth session the Sub-Commission had decided to undertake a study on discrimination in education, which should be "on a global basis" and which would serve "as the basis for the Sub-Commission's recommendations " (E/CN.4/703, para. 96). In the report of its eighth session, the Sub-Commission referred to a problem which had been encountered by its Special Rapporteur, Mr. Ammoun, with reference to the global nature of the study of discrimination in education (E/CN.4/721, paras. 52 to 61). Although Mr. Ammoun had requested the Secretary-General to send a letter to the People's Republic of China, requesting any material likely to be of assistance in preparing his study, the Secretary-General had not considered it possible to send such a communication in view of the decisions affecting the matter which had been taken by the main organs of the United Nations. The Secretary-General had indicated that he would raise no objection to inquiries being made of the Government of the People's Republic of China by the Special Rapporteur himself and, if the Rapporteur desired, to the Secretariat's assisting him by forwarding his inquiries to that Government. The Sub-Commission had taken note of the Secretary-General's position and had left it to the Special Rapporteur to decide upon the action which he would take.

150. In the joint draft resolution submitted by China, the Philippines, and the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.440) it was proposed that the Commission, bearing in mind its own resolutions on annual reports and on studies of specific rights or groups of rights (see paragraphs 23 and 49 above), should decide, in accordance with the principles adopted in those resolutions, that the materials and studies in the field of discrimination should relate to States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, and that such recommendations as might be made should be of an objective and general character, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations.

151. The proposal was opposed by several members of the Commission, who felt that a decision on the question by the Commission was unnecessary, as the Sub-Commission's decision to make global studies had long since been approved. In their view the proposal, instead of assisting the Sub-Commission in making global surveys, would have the effect of limiting the territorial coverage of its studies. Furthermore, the text of the proposal did not appear to indicate that Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories should be included in the studies. A number of members noted that it was not

³¹ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, para. 57.

possible mechanically to apply the approaches and methods of the Commission itself to the work of the Sub-Commission, and that the Sub-Commission was not in need, at that time, of any general directives; they characterized the draft resolution as an unwarranted attempt to interfere in the affairs of the Sub-Commission and, in particular, in the preparatory work on the report on discrimination in education.

152. The sponsors of the joint draft resolution explained, however, that their proposal sought to overcome a practical problem which the Sub-Commission had encountered and which been reflected in its report: the extreme difficulty of communicating with certain areas of the world. It was further stated that the problem was a political one, on which the Commission itself, not the Sub-Commission or the Special Rapporteur, should take a decision. Adoption of the proposal, it was contended, would solve a problem which had hindered the Sub-Commission in its work by making it clear that the material and studies should relate to Governments of States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies.

Measures to be taken for the cessation of any advocacy of national, racial or religious hostility

153. In resolution D (E/CN.4/721, para. 141), the Sub-Commission had expressed its appreciation of the work carried out by the Secretary-General in preparing a report on measures for the cessation of national, racial or religious hostility (E/CN.4/Sub.2/172), and in gathering certain supporting material. The Sub-Commission had drawn the attention of the Commission to the abovementioned documents and had suggested that the following item should be retained on the agenda for its ninth session: "Measures to be taken for the cessation of any advocacy of national, racial, or religious hostility that constitutes an incitement to hatred and violence, jointly or separately".

154. No formal proposal with regard to this subject was put forward in the Commission, although several members commented favourably on the work which the Sub-Commission had done in the field and expressed the view that it might be continued having due regard at all times to the general principle of freedom of information. On the other hand it was suggested that the Sub-Commission should not give further consideration to the subject.

Duration of the ninth session of the Sub-Commission

155. The Sub-Commission had gone on record (E/CN.4/721, para. 182) as considering that its ninth session should be of four weeks' duration, in view of the heavy workload of that session, which would include examination of the revised report on discrimination in education, examination of the report on discrimination in employment and occupation, and examination of reports which might be submitted by the Special Rapporteurs appointed to carry out studies of discrimination in respect of religious rights and practices and political rights respectively.

156. At the suggestion of the representative of Poland, the Commission decided unanimously at its 540th meeting

to endorse the Sub-Commission's request and to transmit it to the Economic and Social Council.

Consideration of the draft resolution on the report of the Sub-Commission

157. The draft resolution submitted jointly by China, the Philippines and the United States of America, as orally revised at the 544th meeting, was put to the vote at the same meeting. The preamble and operative paragraphs 1 to 4 were adopted by 17 votes to none, with 1 abstention. Operative paragraph 5 was adopted by 10 votes to 5, with 3 abstentions. The draft resolution as a whole was adopted by 11 votes to 3, with 4 abstentions. It reads as follows :

Resolution IX

REPORT OF THE SUB-COMMISSION ON PREVENTION OF DISCRIMINATION AND PROTECTION OF MINORITIES (EIGHTH SESSION)

The Commission on Human Rights,

Having considered the report of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities (eighth session) (E/CN.4/721),

Bearing in mind that the Special Rapporteur on Discrimination in Education has submitted a draft report for consideration by the Sub-Commission and that he has been requested by the Sub-Commission to revise his draft in the light of the discussions on it,

Bearing in mind the resolution of the Sub-Commission on the study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation (E/CN.4/721, para. 34),

Considering that the Sub-Commission has decided to proceed with studies of discrimination both in the matter of religious rights and practices and in the matter of political rights,

Bearing in mind that the resolutions of the Commission on Human Rights on annual reports on human rights ³² and on studies of specific rights or groups of rights ³³ relate to the consideration of general developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty in States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies,

1. Takes note with appreciation of the report of the eighth session of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities;

2. Commends the Sub-Commission and the Special Rapporteur for the successful initiation of the study of discrimination in education, and hopes that the Sub-Commission will present its report on this study to the Commission at its next session;

3. Notes the decision of the Sub-Commission to give priority, at its next session, to the subject of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation;

 ³² Ibid., Twenty-second Session, Supplement No. 3, para. 23.
³³ Ibid., para. 49.

4. Notes the decision of the Sub-Commission to proceed with studies of discrimination in the matter of religious rights and practices and in the matter of political rights;

5. Decides, in accordance with the principles adopted by the Commission with respect to annual

reports on human rights and studies on specific rights or groups of rights, that the materials and studies in the field of discrimination should relate to States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies and that such recommendations as may be made should be of an objective and general character, in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations.

V. COMMUNICATIONS

158. The 545th meeting was held in private to receive, under item 5 of the Commission's agenda, a confidential list of communications (HR/Communications List No. 6 and Add.1) and observations from Governments (HR/ Communication Nos.73-84), submitted by the Secretary-General in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolutions 75 (V), 192 A (VIII), 275 B (X) and 454 (XIV). A non-confidential list of communications (E/CN.4/CR. 25), dealing with the principles involved in the promotion of universal respect for, and observance of, human rights, had already been circulated. The non-confidential list contained summaries of twenty communications received during the period from 19 January 1955 to 24 January 1956.

159. The confidential list contained summaries of, or references to, 3,243 communications received during the period from 16 January to 31 December 1955, including

sixteen communications from non-governmental organ izations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council. Approximately 2,000 of the communications related to political persecution; about 230 to discrimination and minorities; 170 to self-determination; 170 to cruel and unusual punishment; 120 to fair trial; 95 to freedom of religion; and about 30 each to freedom of movement, family rights, and trade-union rights. Other communications related to such matters as arbitrary arrest and detention, asylum, civil liberties in general terms, educational rights, forced labour, genocide, slavery and the right of property.

160. The Commission decided, by 13 votes to none, with 4 abstentions, to take note of the distribution of the lists of communications. It also agreed, without objection, to make public the summary record of the meeting.

VI. REVIEW OF PROGRAMME AND ESTABLISHMENT OF PRIORITIES

161. At its 544th meeting, the Commission discussed item 6 of its agenda, "Review of programme and establishment of priorities", in accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 590 A I (XX). The discussion was confined to the consideration of the inclusion of items relating to freedom of information and communications on the agenda of the thirteenth session of the Commission. The Commission adopted a proposal on the former, but rejected a proposal on communications.

162. The Commission had already, at its eleventh session, approved a programme of future work.³⁴ It had, moreover, decided at its twelfth session to place on the agenda of its thirteenth session items relating to the draft Declaration on the Rights of the Child and to the right of asylum (see paras. 99 and 109 above), and there would be items on the agenda of the next session arising out of the various other decisions taken by the Commission. The Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities was also expected to submit a report which would deal with such important subjects as the studies on discrimination in education and in occupation and employment, in connexion with which the USSR proposal on a draft Convention on Discrimination in Education would be discussed (see paragraph 107 above).

A. Freedom of information

163. The Commission adopted, by 13 votes to none, with 4 abstentions, the following draft resolution submitted by India (E/CN.4/L.441):

Resolution X

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

The Commission on Human Rights,

Recalling General Assembly resolution 59 (I), which states, *inter alia*, that "Freedom of information is a fundamental human right and is the touchstone of all the freedoms to which the United Nations is consecrated",

Recalling article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,

Considering that since the expiration of the mandates of the Sub-Commission on Freedom of Information and of the Press and of the Rapporteur on matters relating to freedom of information, there does not exist any special technical organ of the United Nations concerned with this important aspect of human rights,

Conscious that to submit proposals, recommendations and reports to the Economic and Social Council regarding the promotion of freedom of information

³⁴ See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentieth Session, Supplement No. 6, para. 82.

is among the terms of reference of the Commission on Human Rights as established by resolution 1/5 of the first session and resolution 2/9 of the second session of the Council,

Decides to place on the agenda of its thirteenth session the following item:

"Review of the progress made in the field of freedom of information and consideration of measures for the effective promotion of that right, with such recommendations as may be necessary."

164. During the discussion most members agreed that freedom of information was one of the most important fundamental rights, but there was some disagreement on the advisability of placing the subject on the agenda of the next session of the Commission.

Some members were of the opinion that since 165. the General Assembly was seized of the question of the draft Convention on Freedom of Information and the Economic and Social Council of certain matters relating to freedom of information, such as the development of information media in under-developed countries, the Commission should do nothing to hamper or prejudice their work, or at least it should not commence the consideration of the subject until those organs had resolved the problems before them. Much work has already been done in the field, and every effort should be made to avoid overlapping and duplication. It was also likely that the subject could be discussed by the Commission in conjunction with the annual reports to be submitted by Governments, which were bound to include material on freedom of information. For the time being, at least, the Commission should avoid taking a precipitate step.

166. Other members pointed out that the paragraphs of the preamble to the resolution explained the reasons why the subject was proposed for inclusion on the agenda of the thirteenth session. The Commission would naturally avoid discussion on such matters as were before other organs. The fact was, however, that there was no special organ at that time which was concerned with that basic human right. The Commission was not only empowered under the terms of reference to concern itself with freedom of information, but it was its duty to maintain a close watch on the subject independently of other organs, as part of its general responsibility in the human rights field.

167. The view was expressed that the operative part of the resolution appeared to be far too broad and comprehensive. It might entail unnecessary debate on matters which had proved difficult in the past. A suggestion that the item should be entitled "Question of freedom of information" was not favoured. It was emphasized that the formulation of the operative paragraph did not prejudge any action by the Commission. Its aim was to allow the Commission to survey what had been done in the field and to consider whether anything further needed to be done. There was no intention of encroaching upon the work of other organs or of superseding their decisions.

B. Communications

168. The Commission rejected, by 4 votes to 2, with 11 abstentions, the proposal of the Philippines (544th meeting) that an item on the "Study of the procedure for the handling of communications" should be placed on the agenda of its thirteenth session.

169. In support of the proposal the view was expressed that the Commission might usefully review the procedure for the handling of communications, which had been the subject of discussion from time to time but had not vet received serious and adequate consideration. A suggestion was made that the Commission might wish to study the question of appointing an ad hoc committee of its members. The Committee would go through the communications and, without passing any judgement on the substance of communications or on the Governments concerned, might present certain objective conclusions which might help the Commission in its work for the promotion of human rights. Such a procedure would not alter the guiding principle, which the Commission had recognized, that it had no power to take action on any complaints.

VII. NEXT SESSION OF THE COMMISSION

170. At the 545th meeting, the representative of France proposed that the next session of the Commission should be held at Geneva. The Commission adopted by 14 votes to 2, with 1 abstention, the following resolution:

Resolution XI

PLACE OF MEETING OF THE NEXT SESSION OF THE COMMISSION

The Commission on Human Rights

Recommends to the Economic and Social Council to decide that the Commission on Human Rights shall meet at Geneva in 1957.

VIII. ADOPTION OF THE REPORT OF THE TWELFTH SESSION OF THE COMMISSION TO THE ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

171. The Commission considered the draft report of its twelfth session (E/CN.4/L.437 and Add.1 to 7) at its 546th meeting and adopted it unanimously.

ANNEXES

ANNEX I

Draft resolutions for action by the Economic and Social Council 35

A

ANNUAL REPORTS ON HUMAN RIGHTS ³⁶

The Economic and Social Council,

Having noted the resolution of the Commission on Human Rights relating to annual reports on human rights,³⁷

1. *Requests* each State Member of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies to transmit annually to the Secretary-General a report describing developments and progress achieved in the field of human rights and measures taken to safeguard human liberty in its metropolitan area and Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories, such report to deal with the rights enumerated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and with the right of peoples to self-determination and to supplement the information furnished for publication in the *Yearbook on Human Rights* and to make reference to any relevant parts of reports already submitted to another organ of the United Nations or to a specialized agency;

2. Calls the attention of each Member State to the advisability of setting up an advisory body, composed of experienced and competent persons, to assist their Government in the preparation of its report;

3. *Invites* the specialized agencies, in respect of rights coming within their purview, to transmit annually to the Secretary-General a report on a topical basis summarizing the information which they have received from their member States, and to co-operate in the full realization of the aim set forth in this resolution and in the resolution of the Commission on Human Rights.

B

STUDIES OF SPECIFIC RIGHTS OR GROUPS OF RIGHTS 38

The Economic and Social Council,

Having noted the resolution of the Commission on Human Rights on studies of specific rights or groups of rights,³⁹

 35 The financial implications of these draft resolutions will be issued as document $\rm E/2844/Add.1$

³⁶ See resolution I of the Commission (paragraph 23), paragraphs 21 to 46, and annex II of this report.

³⁷ Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentysecond Session, Supplement No. 3, para. 23. 1. *Approves* as the first subject for study the right of everyone to be free from arbitrary arrest, detention and exile;

2. *Invites* the States Members of the United Nations and of the specialized agencies, in transmitting the reports requested under the resolution on annual reports,⁴⁰ to deal in particular with the right or groups of rights currently selected for study under the terms of this resolution;

3. *Invites* the specialized agencies and the non-governmental organizations in consultative relationship with the Economic and Social Council to co-operate in carrying out this resolution and the resolution of the Commission on Human Rights.

С

CELEBRATION OF THE TENTH ANNIVERSARY OF THE UNIVERSAL DECLARATION OF HUMAN RIGHTS ⁴¹

The Economic and Social Council,

Noting the resolution of the Commission on Human Rights on plans for the celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,⁴²

Invites the collaboration of the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization and other specialized agencies and non-governmental organizations concerned, in this undertaking.

D

REPORT OF THE COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS ON ITS TWELFTH SESSION

The Economic and Social Council

Takes note of the report of the Commission on Human Rights on its twelfth session (E/2844).⁴³

³⁸ See resolution II of the Commission (paragraph 49), paragraphs 47 to 83, and annex II of this report.

⁸⁹ Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentysecond Session, Supplement No. 3, para. 49.

⁴⁰ Draft resolution A above.

 41 See resolution VI of the Commission (paragraph 113) and paragraphs 114 to 118 of this report.

⁴² Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Twentysecond Session, Supplement No. 3, para. 113.

⁴⁸ Ibid., Supplement No. 3.

ANNEX II

Financial implications of the resolutions of the Commission

(Prepared by the Secretariat)

ANNUAL REPORTS ON HUMAN RIGHTS

AND

STUDIES OF SPECIFIC RIGHTS OR GROUPS OF RIGHTS

The financial implications of the resolutions adopted by the Commission 44 on annual reports on human rights and on studies of specific rights or groups of rights will be distributed to the Council in document E/2844/Add.1.

⁴⁴ See paragraphs 23 and 49, and annex I, draft resolutions A and B.

ANNEX III

List of documents before the Commission at its twelfth session

DOCUMENTS IS	SUED IN THE GENERAL SERIES		Nations from 19 January 1955 to 24 January 1956
E/CN.4/517	Memorandum by the Secretary-General on annual reports on human rights	E/CN.4/INF.10	Note by the Secretary-General on ar- rangements for the twelfth session of
E/CN.4/690 and Add.1-12	Comments of Member States received by the Secretary-General under Econo- mic and Social Council resolu- tion 501 C (XVI)	E/CN.4/SR.514-546	the Commission Summary records of the plenary meet- ings of the twelfth session of the Com- mission
E/CN.4/691 and Add.1	Observations of the specialized agencies received by the Secretary-General pursuant to Economic and Social Council resolution 501 C (XVI)		SUED IN THE LIMITED SERIES
E/CN.4/720	Provisional agenda of the twelfth ses- sion of the Commission	E/CN.4/L.415	Statement of the Chairman of the Com- mission at the opening meeting of the twelfth session
E/CN.4/721 and Add.1	Report of the eighth session of the Sub- Commission on Prevention of Discri- mination and Protection of Minori- tics the Commission of Minori-	E/CN.4/L.416	Statement by the Secretary-General at the opening meeting of the twelfth session
E/CN.4/722 and Corr.1	ties to the Commission on Human Rights Report by the Secretary-General on	E/CN.4/L.417, E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.1 and E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2	United States of America: draft resolu- tion on annual reports on human rights
, .	advisory services in the field of human rights	E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2/ Add.1	Financial implications of the draft reso- lution on annual reports on human
E/CN.4/723	Agenda of the twelfth session of the Commission	E/CN.4/L.418,	rights United States of America: draft resolu-
E/CN.4/724	Text of resolution adopted by the Com- mission on the membership of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of	E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.2, E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.3 and Corr.1	tion on studies of specific rights or groups of rights
E/CN.4/725	Discrimination and Protection of Minorities. Nomination for membership of the Sub-	E/CN.4/L.418/Add.1	Financial implications of the draft reso- lution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights
	Commission on Prevention of Dis- crimination and Protection of Mino- rities	E/CN.4/L.419	Chile, China, Pakistan and Philippines: amendment to the draft resolution on annual reports on human rights
E/CN.4/726	Text of resolution adopted by the Com- mission on annual reports on human rights		submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417)
E/CN.4/727	Text of resolution adopted by the Com- mission on studies of specific rights or groups of rights	E/CN.4/L.420	Philippines: amendments to the draft resolution on annual reports on human rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/
E/CN.4/728	Text of resolution adopted by the Com- mission on advisory services in the field of human rights	E/CN.4/L.421	L.17) Chile: amendment to the draft resolu- tion on annual reports on human
E/CN.4/729	Texts of resolutions adopted by the Commission on the draft Declaration		rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417)
	on the Rights of the Child, on the right of asylum and on the celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Uni- versal Declaration of Human Rights, respectively	E/CN.4/L.422	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: amendments to the draft resolution on annual reports on human rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417)
E/CN.4/730	Text of resolution adopted by the Com- mission on the Conference of Non- Governmental Organizations Inte- rested in the Eradication of Prejudice and Discrimination	E/CN.4/L.423	Lebanon: amendment to the joint amendment of Chile, China, Paki- stan and the Philippines E/CN.4/ L.419 to the draft resolution on annual reports on human rights sub-
E/CN.4/731	Report of the twelfth session of the Commission to the Economic and Social Council		mitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417)
E/CN.4/CR.25	Non-confidential list of communica- tions dealing with the principles involved in the promotion of univer- sal respect for and observance of human rights, received by the United	E/CN.4/L.424, E/CN.4/L.424/Rev.1 and E/CN.4/L.424/ Rev.2	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: amendments to the revised draft reso- lution submitted on annual reports on human rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/ L.417/Rev.1 and 2)

E/CN.4/L.425	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: draft resolution on the Declaration on the Rights of the Child	E/CN.4/L.438/Add.1	Financial implications of the draft reso- lution on membership of the Sub- Commission on Prevention of Discri-	
E/CN.4/L.426 and Corr.1	Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: draft resolution relating to a con- vention on the prevention of discri-	E/CN.4/L.439	mination and Protection of Mino- rities France: draft resolution on the Con-	
E/CN.4/L.427 and E/CN.4/L.427/Rev.1	mination in education Lebanon: amendments to the revised draft resolution on annual reports on		ference of Non-Governmental Or- ganizations Interested in the Eradi- cation of Prejudice and Discrimina- tion	
	human rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417/ Rev.2)	E/CN.4/L.440	China, Philippines and United States of America: draft resolution on report of the eighth session of the	
E/CN.4/L.428	Chile, China, Lebanon, Pakistan and Philippines: amendment to the re- vised draft resolution on annual reports on human rights submitted		Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimination and Protection of Minorities	
	by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.417/Rev.2)	E/CN.4/L.441	India: draft resolution concerning freedom of information	
E/CN.4/L.429	Australia: working paper relating to operative paragraph 5 of the draft resolution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights submitted by the	Documents issued in the non-governmental organizations series		
	United States of America (E/CN.4/ L.418/Rev.3)	E/CN.4/NGO/63	International Federation of Senior Police Officers (Register): draft Co- venant on Civil and Political Rights	
E/CN.4/L.430	Chile, China, Lebanon, Pakistan and Philippines: amendment to the re- vised draft resolution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights	E/CN.4/NGO/64	International League for the Rights of Man (category B): freedom of infor- mation	
	submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/L.418/Rev.3)	E/CN.4/NGO/65	World Jewish Congress (category B): comments on the agenda of the twelfth session of the Commission	
E/CN.4/L.431	Chile: amendment to the revised draft resolution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/ L.418/Rev.3)	E/CN.4/NGO/66	World Union for Progressive Judaism (category B): study of discrimination in the field of religious rights and practices	
E/CN.4/L.432	Greece, India, Pakistan and Philip- pines: amendment to the revised draft resolution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/ L.418/Rev.3)	E/CN.4/NGO/67	International Confederation of Free Trade Unions, World Federation of Trade Unions, World Federation of United Nations Associations, World Veterans Federation (category A), Agudas Israel World Organization,	
E/CN.4/L.433	India: amendment to the revised draft resolution on studies of specific rights or groups of rights submitted by the United States of America (E/CN.4/ L.418/Rev.3)		Commission of the Churches on International Affairs, Consultative Council of Jewish Organizations, Co-ordinating Board of Jewish Or- ganizations, International League for	
E/CN.4/L.434	Mexico, Pakistan, Philippines and United States of America: draft reso- lution on advisory services in the field of human rights		the Rights of Man, International So- ciety for the Welfare of Cripples, In- ternational Union of Socialist Youth, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom, World	
E/CN.4/L.435	France: draft resolution concerning the rights of asylum		Alliance of Young Men's Christian Associations, World Assembly of	
E/CN.4/L.436 and E/CN.4/L.436/Rev.1	Mexico and United States of America: draft resolution on celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights		Youth, World Union for Progressive Judaism (category B); International Federation of Free Journalists, In- ternational House Association, World Federation for Mental Health	
E/CN.4/L.437 and Add.1-7	Draft report of the twelfth session of the Commission to the Economic and Social Council		(register): Conference of Non-Gov- ernmental Organizations Interested in the Eradication of Prejudice and	
E/CN.4/L.438	Chile: draft resolution on membership of the Sub-Commission on Preven- tion of Discrimination and Protec- tion of Minorities	E/CN.4/NGO/68	Discrimination International League for the Rights of Man (category B): communications concerning human rights	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Chapter	y	Paragraphs	Page
	B. Report of the eighth session of the Sub-Commission on Prevention of Discrimi- nation and Protection of Minorities	129-157	20
	Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations interested in the Eradica-		
	tion of Prejudice and Discrimination	131-137	20
	Resolution VIII	137	21
	Work programme of the Sub-Commission	138-139	21
	Study of discrimination in the field of employment and occupation	140-142	21
	Study of discrimination in the field of education	143-146	21
	Further studies in the field of discrimination	147-148	22
	Scope of studies and character of recommendations	149-152	22
	Measures to be taken for the cessation of any advocacy of national,		
	racial or religious hostility	153-154	23
	Duration of the ninth session of the Sub-Commission	155-156	23
	Consideration of the draft resolution on the report of the Sub-Com-		
	mission	157	23
	Resolution IX	157	23
v.	Communications	158-160	24
VI.	Review of programme and establishment of priorities	161-169	24
	A. Freedom of information	163-167	24
	Resolution X	163	24
		168-169	25
	B. Communications	108-109	25
VII.	Next session of the Commission	170	25
	Resolution XI	170	25
VIII.	Adoption of the report of the twelfth session of the Commission to the Economic		
	and Social Council.	171	25

ANNEXES

		Page
I.	Draft resolutions for action by the Economic and Social Council	26
	A. Annual reports on human rights	26
	B. Studies of specific rights or groups of rights	26
	C. Celebration of the tenth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights	26
	D. Report of the Commission on Human Rights on its twelfth session	26
II.	Financial implications of the resolutions of the Commission (prepared by the Secretariat) Annual reports on human rights and studies of specific rights or groups of rights	26 26
ш.	List of documents before the Commission at its twelfth session	27
	Documents issued in the general series	27
	Documents issued in the limited series	27
	Documents issued in the non-governmental organizations series	28

ARGENTINA

- Editorial Sudamericana, S.A., Calle Alsina 500. BUENOS AIRES.
- AUSTRALIA H. A. Goddard Pty., Ltd., 255a George Street, SYDNEY, N.S.W.
- Melbourne University Press, CARLTON N.3, Victoria.
- AŲSTRIA
- Gerold & Co., Graben 31, WIEN I. B. Wüllerstorff, Book Import and Subscrip-tion Agency, Markus Sittikusstrasse 10, SALZBURG.
- BELGIUM
- Agence et Messageries de la Presse, S.A., 14-22 rue du Persil, BRUSSELS. W. H. Smith & Son, 71-75 bd Adolphe-Max, BRUSSELS.
- BOLIVIA
- Libreria Selecciones, Empresa Editora "La Razón", Casilla 972, La Paz.
- BRAZIL
- Livraria Agir, Rua Mexico 98-B, Caixa Postal 3291, Rio de Janeiro, D.F.
- CAMBODIA
- Papeterie-Librairie nouvelle, Albert Portail, 14 av. Boulloche, PNOM-PENH.
- CANADA The Ryerson Press, 299 Queen Street West, TORONTO, Ontario.
- CEYLON
- The Associated Newspapers of Ceylon, Ltd., Lake House, COLOMBO.
- CHILE Libreria Ivens, Calle Moneda 822, SANTIAGO, Editorial del Pacifico, Ahumada 57, SANTIAGO.
- CHINA The World Book Co., Ltd., 99 Chung King Road, 1st Section, TAIPEH, Taiwan. The Commercial Press, Ltd., 170 Liu Li Chang, PEKING.
- COLOMBIA Librería Nacional, Ltda., 20 de Julio, San Juan Jesús, BARRANQUILLA. Librería Buchholz Galería, Av. Jiménez de Quesada 8-40, Bogotá. Libreria América, Sr. Jaime Navarro R., 49-58 Calle 51, MEDELLÍN.
- COSTA RICA Trejos Hermanos, Apartado 1313, SAN José, CUBA
- La Casa Belga, René de Smedt, O'Reilly 455, HAVANA.
- CZECHOSLOVAKIA
- Ceskoslovensky Spisovatel, Národní Trída 9. PRAGUE I.
- DENMARK Messrs. Einar Munksgaard, Ltd., Nørregade
- 6, COPENHAGEN. DOMINICAN REPUBLIC
 - Librería Dominicana, Calle Mercedes 49, Apartado 656, CIUDAD TRUJILLO.
- ECUADOR Libreria Científica Bruno Moritz, Casilla 362,

Printed in France

- GUAYAQUIL. EGYPT
- Librairie "La Renaissance d'Egypte", 9 Sharia Adly Pasha, CAIRO.
- EL SALVADOR Manuel Navas y Cia, "La Casa del Libro Barato", 1º Avenida Sur 37, San Salvador.
- FINLAND Akateeminen Kirjakauppa, 2 Keskuskatu, HELSINKI.

Sales Section, European Office of the United Nations,

Palais des Nations, GENEVA, Switzerland

- FRANCE
- Editions A. Pedone, 13 rue Soufflot, PARIS, V. GERMANY
- R. Eisenschmidt, Kaiserstrasse 49, FRANK-FURT/MAIN
- Buchhandlung Elwert & Meurer, Haupt-

strasse 101, Berlin-Schöneberg. Alexander Horn, Spiegelgasse 9, WiesBaden, W.E. Saarbach, G.m.b.H., Ausland-Zeitungs-handel, Gereonstrasse 25-29, COLOGNE I (22c). GREECE

- Kauffmann Bookshop, 28 Stadion Street, ATHENS.
- **GUATEMALA**
- Sociedad Económica Financiera, Edf. Briz, Do. 207, 6a Av. 14-33, Zona 1, GUATEMALA CITY.
- HAITI
- Max Bouchereau, Librairie "A la Caravelle", Boîte postale 111-B, PORT-AU-PRINCE. HONDURAS
- Librería Panamericana. Calle de la Fuente. TEGUCIGALPA.
- HONG KONG
- Swindon Book Co., 25 Nathan Road, Kow-LOON.
- ICELAND
- Bokaverzlun Sigfusar Eymundsonnar, Austurstreti 18, REYKJAVIK.
- INDIA
- Orient Longmans, CALA MADRAS and NEW DELHI. CALCUTTA, BOMBAY, NIADRAS and INEW DELHI. Oxford Book & Stationery Company, Scindia House, New DELHI, and at CALCUTTA. P. Varadachary & Co., 8 Linghi Chetty Street, MADRAS I.
- INDONESIA
- Jajasan Pembangunan, Gunung Sahari 84, DJAKARTA.
- IRAN "Guity", 482 av. Ferdowsi, TEHERAN.
- IRAQ Mackenzie's Booksho Stationers, BAGHDAD. Bookshop, Booksellers and
- ISRAEL
- Blumstein's Bookstores, Ltd., 35 Allenby Road, P.O.B. 4154, TEL AVIV.
- ITALY
- Libreria Commissionaria Sansoni, Via Gino Capponi 26, FLORENCE.
- JAPAN Maruzen Co., Ltd., 6 Tori-Nichome, Nihon-bashi, P.O.B. 605, Tokyo Central.
- LEBANON Librairie Universelle, BERUT. LIBERIA
- Mr. Jacob Momolu Kamara, Gurly and Front Streets, MONROVIA.
- LUXEMBOURG Librairie J. Schummer, Place Guillaume, LUXEMBOURG.
- MEXICO
- Editorial Hermes, S.A., Ignacio Mariscal 41, MEXICO, D.F. NETHERLANDS
- N. V. Martinus Nijhoff, Lange Voorhout 9, THE HAGUE.
- NEW ZEALAND The United Nations Association of New Zealand, G.P.O. 1011, WELLINGTON.
- NICARAGUA Dr. Ramiro Ramirez V., Agencia de Publi-caciones, MANAGUA, D.N.

Orders from countries where sales agents have not yet been appointed may be sent to

or

Price: \$ (U.S.) 0.25; 1/9 stg.; Sw. fr. 1.00

(or equivalent in other currencies)

- NORWAY
- Johan Grundt Tanum Forlag, Kr. Augustsgt. 7a. Oslo.
- PAKISTAN
- Thomas & Thomas, Fort Mansion, Frere Road, KARACHI. Publishers United, Ltd., 176 Anarkali, LAHORE.
- The Pakistan Co-operative Book Society, 150 Govt. New Market, Azimpura, Dacca, East Pakistan, and at CHITTAGONG.
- PANAMA
- José Menéndez, Agencia Internacional de Publicaciones, Plaza de Arango, PANAMÁ. PARAGUAY

Agencia de Librerías de Salvador Nizza, Calle Pte. Franco 39-43, Asunción. PERU

- Librería Internacional del Perú, S.A., Casilla 1417, LIMA.
- PHILIPPINES
- Alemar's Book Store, 749 Rizal Avenue MANILA.
- PORTUGAL
- Livraria Rodrigues, Rua Auréa 186-188, LISBON.
- SINGAPORE
- The City Bookstore, Ltd., Winchester House, Collyer Quay, SINGAPORE.

SPAIN Libreria Mundi-Prensa, Lagasca 38, MADRID. Libreria José Bosch, Ronda Universidad 11, BARCELONA.

SWEDEN

C. E. Fritze's Kungl. Hovbokhandel, Freds-gatan 2, STOCKHOLM 16.

- SWITZERLAND
- Librairie Payot, S.A., 1 rue de Bourg, LAU-SANNE; and at BASLE, BERNE, GENEVA, MON-TREUX, NEUCHATEL, VEVEY, ZURICH. Librairie Hans Raunhardt, Kirchgasse 17,
- ZURICH 1. SYRIA
- Librairie universelle, DAMASCUS,
- THAILAND
- Pramuan Mit, Ltd., 55, 57, 59 Chakrawat Road, Wat Tuk, BANGKOK.
- TURKEY
- Librairie Hachette, 469 Istiklal Caddesi, BEYOGLU-ISTANBUL.
- UNION OF SOUTH AFRICA Van Schaik's Bookstore (Pty.), P.O. Box 724,
- PRETORIA.

Diaz, MONTEVIDEO.

LIUBLJANA (Slovenia).

Sales and Circulation Section, United Nations,

NEW YORK, U.S.A.

- UNITED KINGDOM
 - H.M. Stationery Office, P.O. Box 569, LON-DON S.E.I; and at H.M.S.O. Shops in LONDON, BELFAST, BIRMINGHAM, BRISTOL, CARDIFF, EDINBURGH and MANCHESTER.
- UNITED STATES OF AMERICA International Documents Service, Columbia University Press, 2960 Broadway, NEW YORK 27, N.Y.

Oficina de Representación de Editoriales, Prof. Héctor d'Elfa, 18 de Julio 1333, Palacio

Librería del Este, Av. Miranda 52, Edf. Galipan, CARACAS.

Librairie Albert Portail, 185-193 rue Catinat,

Drzavno Preduzece, Jugoslovenska Knjiga, Terazije 27/II, BELORADE. Cankars Endowment (Cankarjeva Zalozba),

09129-May 1956-2,650

V. 56.

URUGUAY

VENEZUELA

VIETNAM

SAIGON.

YUGOSLAVIA